
 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 14, 2016 

Closed Session Meeting – 5:30 PM 

Regular Meeting - 6:30 PM 

 
City Hall – Beryl P. Robinson, Jr. Conference Room 

317 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA  95959 
 
 

MISSION STATEMENT  

The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town  

character and historical architecture while providing quality public services for our 

 current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

 
 

 Evans Phelps, Mayor 

Reinette Senum, Council Member   Duane Strawser, Vice Mayor 

David Parker, Council Member   Valerie Moberg, Council Member 
 

The City Council welcomes you to its meetings which are scheduled at 6:30 PM on the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays of 
each month.  Your interest is encouraged and appreciated.  This meeting is recorded on DVD and is televised on local 
public television Channel 17.  Other special accommodations may be requested to the City Clerk 72 hours in advance 
of the meeting.  Please turn off all cell phones or similar devices.  Action may be taken on any agenda item.  Agenda 
notices are available at City Hall.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after 
distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, 
CA during normal business hours. 
 
ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON ANY ITEM ON THIS 

AGENDA: After receiving recognition from the Mayor, give your name and address, and then your comments or 
questions. Please direct your remarks to the Councilmembers. In order that all interested parties have an opportunity 
to speak, please limit your comments to the specific item under discussion. All citizens will be afforded an opportunity 
to speak, consistent with their Constitutional rights. Time limits shall be at the Mayor's discretion. IF YOU 

CHALLENGE the Council's decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the meeting or Public Hearing described on this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered 
to the City Council at, or prior to, the meeting or Public Hearing.   
 

CLOSED SESSION MEETING – 5:30 PM 

 

1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.8, a closed session is requested with 
negotiators City Manager Mark Prestwich, Assistant City Manager Catrina Olson and 
Consulting City Attorney Hal DeGraw regarding possible sale of City-owned property.  
 

2. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.8 Real Property Transactions: Closed 
meeting with negotiators, City Manager Mark Prestwich, Contract City Attorney Hal 
DeGraw to participate in negotiations with representatives of Sierra Fund regarding 
purchase and/or terms of acquisition of property identified as APN 05-100-69 and 97 
(portions).  
 

3. Pursuant to Government Code §54956.9, a closed session is requested to discuss significant 
exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9: 1 
potential case.  

 

 
 

1



 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 

 

Roll Call:  Moberg, Parker, Senum, Vice Mayor Strawser, & Mayor Phelps 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
 
PROCLAMATION:  15th Annual Wild and Scenic Film Festival 

 
PRESENTATION:   
 

BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 

 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
Under Government Code Section 54954.3, members of the public are entitled to address 
the City Council concerning any item within the Nevada City Council’s subject matter 
jurisdiction. Comments on items NOT ON THE AGENDA are welcome at this time.  
Normally, public comments are limited to no more than three minutes each.  Except for 

certain specific exceptions, the City Council is prohibited from discussing or taking 

action on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. 

 

2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 

 

3. CONSENT ITEMS: 

 
All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine by the City Council 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed.  There will be no separate discussion of 
these items unless, before the City Council votes on the motion to adopt, members of the 
Council, City staff or the public request specific items to be removed from the Consent Calendar 
for separate discussion and action. 

 
A. Subject: Fire Activity Report – October 2016, November 2016 

Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

B. Subject:  Signs for Providence Mine Brownfields and Prop 84 Clean Up Area 
Recommendation:  Approve the attached signs for placement on the Environs 
property as noted on the attached map. 
 

C. Subject: Accounts Payable Report: February – November 2016 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

4. APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 

 

A. City Council Meeting – November 30, 2016 
B. Special City Council Meeting – November 16, 2016 
 

5. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 

 

A. Subject: Proposed Parking Limitations in Pioneer Park 

2



Recommendation: Provide direction to staff. 
 

B. Subject:  Informational Update: Community and Economic Support Program 
Recommendation: Receive and file.  
 

C. Subject: Monthly Update on City Council Six-Month Strategic Objectives 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 

 

A. Subject: Ordinance: Adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City Municipal Code 
Relating to a Hotel Investment Incentive Program (Second Reading) 
Recommendation: Pass an Ordinance adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City 
Municipal Code relating to a Nevada City Hotel Investment Incentive Program. 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. Subject: Ordinance: Adding Chapter 1.22 to Title 1 and Chapter 9.28 to Title 9 of the 
Nevada City Municipal Code Relating to Establish Administrative Enforcement and 
Civil Remedies for Safety Violations on Private Property (First Reading) 
Recommendation: Waive reading of Ordinance, read title only and introduce for 
first reading. 
 

B. Subject: Ordinance: Amending Chapter 5.28 of the Nevada City Municipal Code 
Pertaining to Cable Systems and State Video Franchises (First Reading) 
Recommendation: Waive reading of Ordinance, read title only and introduce for 
first reading. 
 

9. CORRESPONDENCE: 

 

10. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

 

11. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 

 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Certification of Posting of Agenda 

I, Corey Shaver, Administrative Supervisor for the City of Nevada City, declare that the foregoing agenda for the 
December 14, 2016 Regular Meeting of the Nevada City City Council was posted December 9, 2016 at the office of 
the City of Nevada City (City Hall). The agenda is also posted on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
Signed December 9, 2016 at Nevada City, California 
 
 
_________________________________, Corey Shaver, Administrative Supervisor 
 
 

 

 

 

 

3

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

City Council 

Long Range Calendar 

 
December 28, 2016 Meeting Canceled 
January 11, 2016  Regular Council Meeting 
January 25, 2016  Regular Council Meeting 
 
NOTE:  This list is for planning purposes; items may shift depending on timing and capacity of a meeting. 
 

NOTICE:  As presiding officer, the Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all City Council meetings, to 

remove or cause the removal of any person from any such meeting for disorderly conduct, or for making personal, 

impertinent, or slanderous remarks, using profanity, or becoming boisterous, threatening or personally abusive 

while addressing said Council and to enforce the rules of the Council. 

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

December 14, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Signs for Providence Mine Brownfields and Prop 84 Clean Up Area 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve the attached signs for placement on the Environs 
property as noted on the attached map. 
 
CONTACT:  Dawn Zydonis, Parks & Recreation Supervisor 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:   The City partnered with Sierra Streams Institute 
(SSI) on a Brownfields Clean-up project at the Old Providence Mine site, located on the 
City’s Environs Property. SSI was also awarded funding from the Sierra Nevada 
Conservancy (SNC) to do additional clean-up work on the site. The grant from SNC 
included funding for interpretive signs to explain the history and clean-up efforts in the 
area. 
 
Samples of the proposed signs are attached to this staff report. The signs will be similar 
to the interpretive signs that we have along the Hirschman Trail, Nisenan Trail and Little 
Deer Creek Trail. They will be 20”x25” with 30 point font and mounted on steel 
pedestals. The signs will be posted in the area where the Brownfields & Prop 84 clean-
up work has been completed.   
 
The process for placing these signs was determined by the City’s Policy for Placement 
of Items in City Parks & Open Space. The placement of these signs, although part of a 
larger project, was treated similar to a new facility. SSI presented the project to the 
Parks & Recreation Supervisor. The sign information was shared with other staff 
members for review and input. The signs are now being presented to City Council for 
final approval. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: City staff time will be utilized to install the signs. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 DRAFT Proposed Signs 
 Map showing proposed location of the signs 

17

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



1 

[Type here] 
 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
DRAFT ACTION MINUTES 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF NOVEMBER 30, 2016 
 

 
NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to Quick Links and 
Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the screen.  Select the meeting date and 
Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, please contact Corey Shaver, Deputy City Clerk at 
(530) 265-2496, ext 133. 
 
-  City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.   
- Closed Session Meetings are not recorded. 
 

 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:   Present:  Moberg, Parker, Vice Mayor Strawser & Mayor Phelps 

      Absent:   Council Member Senum 
  
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    
 
PROCLAMATION:  Nevada County Food & Toy Run – 25th Anniversary – December 10, 2016 
 
PRESENTATION:  
 
The City Council received a presentation by Michael Heggarty, Director of Health and Human Services, County of Nevada 
regarding an overview of homeless services provided by the County. 
 
1.  BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR-PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3) 
 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
2.  COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov for additional comments.  
 
3. CONSENT ITEMS: 

 
A. Subject:  Automatic Aid Agreements with Higgins Fire District, Ophir Hill Fire District, Penn Valley Fire District 

and North San Juan Fire District 
Recommendation: Pass a Motion 1) approving agreements providing Automatic Aid from the City of Nevada 
City to Higgins Fire District, Ophir Hill Fire District, Penn Valley Fire District and North San Juan Fire District; 
and 2) authorizing the Fire Chief and City Manager to sign agreements and to edit non-substantial items 
within the agreement pending approval from the other affected agencies.   
 

B. Subject:  Interim Staffing at Nevada City Water and Wastewater Treatment Plants 
Recommendation: Pass a Motion approving Amendment No. 3 in the amount of $56,000 to City agreement 
with Fishers Wastewater Services for a total not to exceed agreement amount of $80,000 to provide interim 
management staffing for the City’s water and wastewater plants thru June 30, 2017. 
 

C. Subject: Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Brownfields Assessment Coalition Grant 
Recommendation: Pass a Motion authorizing the Mayor to sign a Letter of Commitment to participate in the 
Brownfields Assessment Coalition Grant funded by the EPA. 

 
D. Subject:  4th Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year 15/16 

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council review and accept the enclosed 4
th 

Quarter 
Financial Reports for Fiscal Year 15/16. 
 

113

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


2 

[Type here] 
 

 

E. Subject: Approval of Regional Transportation Mitigation Fee Program and Agreement with Nevada County 
Transportation Commission 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2016-49 approving the Regional Transportation Mitigation Fee (RTMF) 
and RTMF Agreement with Nevada County Transportation Commission. 

 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Parker to approve Consent Items as presented.  
(Approved 4 – 0; Senum Absent) 

 

4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 

 
A. City Council Meeting – November 9, 2016 

 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Parker to approve November 9, 2016 Minutes as presented.  
(Approved 4 – 0; Senum absent) 
 
5. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 

 

A. Subject: Deer Creek Restoration Project and Flood Mitigation Project at Pioneer Park 
Recommendation: No action required.  This is a presentation with an opportunity for public feedback on the 
project and CEQA documentation. 

 
Action: A status report presentation of the forthcoming project was provided. Please refer to the meeting video on the 
City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov for discussion. 
 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 
 
A. Subject: Presentation of Preliminary Findings of Comprehensive Water and Wastewater System Assessment 

(Oral Report) 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

 
Action:  Receive and file. 
 

B. Subject: Ordinance: Adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Relating to a Hotel Investment 
Incentive Program (First Reading) 
Recommendation: Pass an Ordinance adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City Municipal Code relating to a 
Nevada City Hotel Investment Incentive Program. 

  

Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Parker to waive reading of Ordinance, read title only and introduce for first reading.  
(Approved 4 – 0; Senum absent) 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 

A. Subject: Agreement between the City of Nevada City and Inn Town Development LLC to Convey Property 

and Allow Parking on City Property 
Recommendation: Pass a Motion authorizing the Mayor to sign an Agreement between the CITY OF 

NEVADA CITY, owner of Railroad Museum property, and INN TOWN DEVELOPMENT LLC, owner of the Inn 

Town Campground, to convey property and allow parking on City property. 
 

Action:  Motion by Parker, seconded by Moberg authorizing the Mayor to sign an Agreement between the CITY OF NEVADA 
CITY, owner of Railroad Museum property, and INN TOWN DEVELOPMENT LLC, owner of the Inn Town Campground, to 
convey property and allow parking on City property. 
(Approved 3 – 0; Senum absent; Phelps recused) 

 
B. Subject: Request for Continuance for the Appeal of the Planning Commission Decision to Deny the Use 

Permit Application by Verizon Wireless to Install eight (8) cellular antennas to various points of the rooftop of 

109 North Pine Street 
Recommendation: Provide direction to either: 1) If the City Council is satisfied that Verizon’s request to 

continue the appeal of their Use Permit is necessary to investigate alternative sites, continue the Verizon 

114

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


3 

[Type here] 
 

 

Appeal to be heard at the requested March 8, 2017 City Council Meeting; or 2) Set the date to hear the 

appeal of the Planning Commission’s decision to deny the Use Permit on December 14, 2016. 
 
Action:  Direction provided to staff to continue appeal of the Planning Commission decision to March 9, 2017 unless staff 
identifies concerns related to pending legislation that otherwise would affect the appeal. 

 

9. CORRESPONDENCE:  
 
10. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
 
11. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:  
 
Action: City Manager Prestwich invited the community to participate in a special meeting of the Planning Commission on 
December 1, 2016. The meeting begins at 6:30 p.m. at City Hall and will focus on seeking public feedback on a proposed 
medical cannabis ordinance. 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT – 8:15 p.m. 
 
 

        _________________________________ 
        Evans Phelps, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

December 14, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Proposed Parking Limits for Pioneer Park 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Provide direction to staff. 
 
CONTACT:  Dawn Zydonis, Parks & Recreation Supervisor; Timothy A. Foley, Police 
Chief 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  The City completed a citywide community survey 
earlier this year.  One of the recurring themes in the survey results was disappointment 
with behaviors (smoking, drug deals, rude behavior, loitering and camping) taking place 
in Pioneer Park, primarily in the picnic areas and lower parking lot.  In recent months, 
the neighbors in that area have been working with the Police Department to start a 
Neighborhood Watch Program. This was encouraged by the same issues brought up in 
the survey as well as burglaries in the area. 
 
In discussions between City staff and neighbors, there has been emerging consensus 
that limiting the number of hours a person can park in Pioneer Park may yield several 
benefits and address community concerns raised in the survey. In addition to deterring 
extended loitering activities, limiting the number of parking hours will also free up 
parking for sanctioned events at the park (a common complaint from park visitors).  
 
Section 10.28.270.A of the City Municipal Code provides that “Whenever the chief of 
police determines that the orderly and efficient conduct of the city’s business requires 
that parking or standing of vehicles on city property be prohibited, limited or restricted 
the chief of police shall have the power and authority to order signs to be erected and 
posted indicating that the parking of vehicles is thus prohibited, limited or 
restricted.” Subsection B provides that those restrictions are effective once signs are in 
place.  Therefore, no new ordinance is required to limit parking in Pioneer Park.   
 
Staff is recommending implementation of a two-hour parking limitation at Pioneer Park 
and is seeking City Council feedback on the concept and proposed time limitation. 
Sanctioned events or activities exceeding the two-hour limit will be provided temporary 
parking passes.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The signs will cost approximately $50 each.  6-10 signs will be 
posted at entrances and in parking lots. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 

 
 DRAFT Proposed Signs 

123

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


Parking within Pioneer Park 

is limited to 2 hours per day.  

Any vehicles parked longer 

than 2 hours, without a  

permit, will be ticketed per 

City Ordinance Section  

10.28.270  Vehicle may be 

subject to towing. 

2 hour Parking Limit 

Per Day - Pioneer Park 

For information call the Police  

Department at 530-265-4700. 

124



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

December 14, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Informational Update: Community and Economic Support Program  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Receive and file.  
 
CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 

BACKGROUND:  The City of Nevada City has a continuing practice of providing annual 
financial support to various community organizations and programs providing a public 
benefit to Nevada City. Cumulative annual funding for requests has typically averaged 
$5,000 or less.  

In addition to funding discussed above, the City also provides annual operational funding 
to the Nevada County Narrow Gauge Railroad Museum (currently $9,500 annually), 
appropriates 7.5% of its Transient Occupancy Tax revenues to the Nevada City Chamber 
of Commerce (estimated at $25,000 in Fiscal Year 2016/17), and provides $3,000 
annually to both the Nevada County Economic Resource Council and Nevada County 
Television.  

DISCUSSION: In 2015, the City Council formalized community funding requests by 
establishing the Community and Economic Support Program (CESP). The CESP 
integrates community requests for funding each January into the City’s annual budget 
development process. The City will open an application period on January 1 and present 
proposals to the City Council after the period closes on January 31. This approach 
facilitates the City Council’s ability to identify and prioritize budget appropriations for these 
requests while considering available resources. Program Guidelines (attached) identify 
program goals, eligibility, and application procedures. In the current fiscal year, the 
program funded a replacement of the 7-Hills Business District sign, the purchase and 
installation of display cases for house Volunteer Fire Department artifacts at Historic Fire 
Station No. 1, improve a 750-foot section of the Providence Spur Trail, and an update of 
the Historic Nevada City Tourist Map. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: CESP’s purpose is to provide sponsorships and grants 
that promote the City of Nevada City’s commerce and increase business activity.  
 
ATTACHMENT:  
  

 Community and Economic Support Program Overview 

125

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


City of Nevada City  

Community and Economic Support Program (CESP) 

 

The City of Nevada City’s Community and Economic Support Program (CESP) provides funding for special 

events, marketing activities or other economic development-related activities providing a public benefit 

to the City. The primary purpose of the Program is to provide sponsorships and grants that promote the 

City of Nevada City’s commerce and increase business activity to help achieve the following goals: 

 Promotion and marketing of Nevada City 

 Support of community events 

 Enhance education  

 Improve aesthetics of a commercial area 

 Improve the perception and/or practice of the City as business friendly 

Applications will be accepted during the month of January. Awards will be made upon annual budget 

approval. The CESP will receive an annual allocation, established by the City Council. Any funds not used 

during the fiscal year will be returned to the General Fund.  The City Council reserves the right to 

consider other non-timely applications should a need arise. 

APPLICANT ELIGIBILITY 

A. Eligible Applicants include the following: 

a. Business associations 

b. Individual businesses 

c. Non-profit organizations 

d. Nevada City Chamber of Commerce 

e. Economic-development related organizations or efforts that meet program goals 

B. Ineligible Applicants: 

a. Individual residents 

b. Neighborhood associations 

PROJECT ELIGIBILITY 

A. Eligible Projects include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Event sponsorships 

b. Grants for marketing and promotion 

c. Studies to further economic development 

d. Economic development-related activities that promote program goals 

B. Ineligible Projects include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. General operation costs, including maintenance and payroll 

b. Cost of internal events, such as luncheons 

c. City membership dues 

d. Unpermitted events 

APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

A. By each January 1, the City shall provide notice on its website and announce at a public meeting 

a call for CESP proposals. 

B. Applicant shall complete and submit the City’s application by January 31. 

C. City staff shall review and evaluate each application based on eligibility requirements and 

funding criteria. 126



D. City staff or City Council may request follow-up information from the applicant to complete 

evaluation of the application. Applicant shall provide the requested information by the date 

designated. 

E. City Council shall prioritize funding requests based on funding availability and determine 

amount and number of awards as part of its annual budget adoption process.  

F. Upon approval by the City Council, the Applicant shall submit to the City a Request for Funds. 

G. Upon receipt of the Request for Funds, staff shall distribute the funds to the Applicant within 

ten (10) business days. 

 

 

127



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL   City of Nevada City 

        317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

December 14, 2016     www.nevadacityca.gov 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

TITLE:  Monthly Update on City Council Six-Month Strategic Objectives 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 
 

CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 

 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  On August 25, 2016, the City Council, Planning 
Commission and executive staff held a planning retreat to discuss City goals. New 
three-year goals and six-month strategic objectives to guide the organization were 
reviewed by the City Council on September 14. 
 
Consistent with the City Council’s direction, a monthly status report has been prepared 
to provide an update on attainment of the Council’s six-month objectives. The attached 
grid outlines the status of each objective and, where appropriate, includes comments 
to provide additional information about select objectives. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  None. 
 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENT:    

  

 6-Month Strategic Objectives Grid 

 

 

128



 A 

N E V A D A  C I T Y  

SIX-MONTH STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  
 

A u g u s t  2 5 ,  2 0 1 6  –  F e b r u a r y  1 5 ,  2 0 1 7  

 
 

 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Enhance and maintain the infrastructure and facilities 

 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 

   DONE ON 
TARGET 

REVISED  

1. 
By February 15, 
2017 

 
Planning Director and 
Planning Commissioner 
Skyler Moon 

 
Identify rules and regulations (e.g., streets, trees, sidewalks) 
for the public and how to simplify them to be more user friendly 
for citizens and merchants and present recommendations for 
action to the Planning Commission and City Council. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

2. 
By February 15, 
2017 

 
Public Works 
Superintendent and City 
Engineer (co-leads) and 
Council Member Duane 
Strawser  
 

 
Identify opportunities and recommend to the City Manager and 
City Council for action a plan to improve pedestrian friendly 
environments. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

3. 
By February 15, 
2017 

 
Council Member Duane 
Strawser, Public Works 
Superintendent and City 
Engineer 
 

 
Develop draft maps and schematics and hold community 
workshops to obtain feedback regarding improved citywide 
public parking options and present the results to the Planning 
Commission, City Manager and City Council. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
Discussion scheduled for 
January 11, 2017 Council 
Meeting. 
 

4. 
By February 15, 
2017, contingent 
upon funding  

 
City Engineer 

 
Procure contractors for reconstruction of the swimming pool 
shell. 
 
 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
Revised plans have been 
received by the City for 
rebidding. 

5. 
By February 15, 
2017 

 
Assistant City Manager 
(lead), Public Works 
Superintendent and City 
Engineer, with input 
from the Department 
Heads 
 

 
Develop and present to the City Council for action an updated 
Capital Improvement Plan. 
 
 

 
 

 

 
X 

 
 

 
 

129



 B 

 
 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Improve and manage fiscal stability and sustainability 
 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 

   DONE ON 
TARGET 

REVISED  

1. 
By November 8, 
2016 
 

 
Mayor Evans Phelps, 
working with the City 
Manager and Executive 
Team 

 
Provide public information at Public Safety Open Houses 
related to Measure C. 
 
 
 

 

X 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Five Measure C Open 
Houses were held to 
provide public information 
about the November 8 ballot 
measure. 

2. 
By January 15, 
2017 and quarterly 
thereafter 
 

 
Assistant City Manager and 
City Engineer 

 
Report to the City Council the steps to complete a full 
AB1600 study tied to the citywide Capital Improvement 
Plan. 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

3. 
By February 1, 
2017 
 

 
City Manager 

 
Present to the City Council a Hotel Incentive Program for 
consideration. 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

 
Proposal presented at 
November 9 Council 
Meeting. First Reading of 
Ordinance held November 
30. Second Reading 
scheduled for December 14. 
 

4. 
By February 15, 
2017 
 
 

 
Assistant City Manager, in 
consultation with the 
Department Directors 

 
Recommend to the City Council for consideration an 
updated citywide fee structure for non-Enterprise 
services. 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

 

130



 C 

 
 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Reduce homelessness and transient population 
 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 

   DONE ON 
TARGET 

REVISED  

1. 
At the October 26, 
2016 City Council 
meeting 
 

 
City Planner 

 
Coordinate a County Social Services representative presentation 
to the City Council regarding a County Homeless Needs 
Assessment, including mental health needs and services. 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

 
Michael Heggarty, Nevada 
County Director of Health & 
Human Services presented at 
the October 26 Council 
Meeting. 

2. 
At the November 
9, 2016 City 
Council meeting 

 
Council Members 
Duane Strawser and 
Reinette Senum, 
working with the 
Police Chief and with 
input from the 
homeless and non-
profit organizations at 
a town hall meeting 
 

 
Develop a plan to reduce homelessness and present to the City 
Council. 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

 
Framework to develop plan to 
reduce homelessness 
presented at November 9 
Council Meeting. 

3. 
By December 15, 
2016 
 

 
City Council (Reinette 
Senum-lead) 
 

 
Consider establishment of a Homeless Advocacy Group to work 
with other groups and to lobby the State for programs and 
funding to reduce homelessness. 
 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

4. 
By February 15, 
2017 
 

 
City Planner (lead), 
Council Member 
Reinette Senum and 
Police Chief 
 

 
Identify potential parameters (e.g., size, costs, zoning, building 
permits) for a Tiny House Pilot Program and present 
recommendations/options to the City Council for action. 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

5. 
By February 15, 
2017 

 
Police Chief and 
Council Member 
Reinette Senum, 
working with Cal 
Growers 
 

 
Identify resources (e.g., quality of life issues, lodging) and the 
enforcement processes for the transient population and update 
and distribute the information fliers to transients and businesses. 
 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

 

131



 D 

 
 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Increase community awareness and involvement 

 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 

   DONE ON 
TARGET 

REVISED  

1. 
Beginning in 
October 2016 
and bimonthly 
thereafter 
 

 
Each Department 
Head 

 
Present to the City Manager and Supervisor of Parks and Recreation a 
list of their department’s activities for possible inclusion in the City 
newsletter (included in the water bill) and the City website to inform the 
public about the activities of the City. 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

2. 
By October 15, 
2016 
 

 
Each Department 
Head 

 
Identify and present to the City Manager and City Council for direction 
regarding implementation by volunteers at least one area where 
volunteers can help the City and what they are needed to do. 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
 

 
Presentation at October 12, 
2016 meeting. 

3. 
By December 15, 
2016 

 
City Manager 
and Management 
Team 
 

 
Prioritize volunteer areas for implementation, distribute the activities to 
appropriate departments or organizations and identify options for 
development of a Volunteer Program. 
 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 

4. 
By February 15, 
2017 

 
City Manager 
and Council 
Member David 
Parker 
 

 
Develop and present to the City Council a Community Awareness 
Program to increase awareness and the number of volunteers for the 
City. 
 

 
 

 

X 

 
 

 
Initial planning meetings held.  

 

132



 

REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 

         Nevada City CA 95959 

         www.nevadacityca.gov 

December 14, 2016 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
TITLE:  Ordinance: Adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Relating 
to a Hotel Investment Incentive Program (Second Reading) 

RECOMMENDATION:  Pass an Ordinance adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City 
Municipal Code relating to a Nevada City Hotel Investment Incentive Program. 

CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

Every successful hotel establishment periodically renovates to increase guest satisfaction 
and address aging or deteriorating assets. Needed safety improvements, competition, 
and improving visitor convenience are also factors that frequently drive hotel renovation 
projects.  

A number of California municipalities have incentivized investment in their local hotels (or 
development of hotel rooms) concluding that incentive programs supporting renovation 
of a sufficient scale can drive significant additional tax revenues to the city (e.g. hotel tax, 
property tax, sales tax) and further improve their community’s guest lodging amenities.  

On November 9, 2016, staff presented the City Council with research related to Hotel 
Incentive Programs in other communities and received direction on key requirements for 
such a program in Nevada City. A first reading of the proposed ordinance was held 
November 30. A summary of the proposed Hotel Investment Incentive Program is 
provided below, along with information about eligibility and application procedures.  

Program Summary  

The program consists of a 20-year incentivized cost-share methodology on the growth on 
the current Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) revenues for each property. The revenue 
base would be established by calculating the average of the prior three-year average TOT 
annual revenue or prior twelve months, whichever is higher. The base will be tied to a 
consumer price index so the City’s base revenue is protected by this program over the 
cost-sharing term. The cost-sharing methodology is intended to aggressively offset the 
private investment and return 85% of the TOT revenue growth to the property owner for 
the first ten years, 65% over years 11-15 and 50% over years 16-20. The program will 
automatically sunset in five years unless extended by the City Council. 

Program Eligibility 

 Minimum “Furniture, Fixture and Equipment” costs of not less than $10,000 per 
guestroom. 

133

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

 Minimum “Shell/Property Improvements” averaging at least $15,000 per 
guestroom (expenses related to expansion of hotel rooms are considered eligible 
expenses). 

 Obligation to comply with Prevailing Wage requirements for property 
improvements. 

 Use good faith efforts to hire local residents and contract with local subcontractors, 
suppliers and other businesses for property improvements. 

The City has five hotels that could qualify for the program. 

Application Procedures 

The following application procedures will guide participation in the Hotel Investment 
Incentive Program: 

1. Submit an incentive program application to the City Manager;  
2. Provide a business plan documenting planned improvements to the hotel property, 

including an estimate of revenues and expenditures for operation of the hotel 
through the program’s cost-sharing term; and 

3. Execute and record an operating covenant approved by the City Council regarding 
continuing use of the hotel, maintenance of the property, non-discrimination, any 
other provisions the City Council may reasonably determine are necessary or 
appropriate to preserve the goals of the program. 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  It is anticipated this program has the potential to generate a minimum 
of $1 million in additional City TOT revenue over the next 20 years to support core City 
services, as well as private investment that will yield additional jobs/services. It is 
anticipated the program may also accelerate increases in City property and sales tax 
revenues.  

ATTACHMENT:   
 

 Ordinance Adding Section 3.26 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Relating to a 
Hotel Investment Incentive Program  

134



ORDINANCE NO. 2016__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

ADDING CHAPTER 3.26 TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING 

TO A HOTEL RENOVATION INCENTIVE PROGRAM 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Chapter 3.26 Hotel Renovation Incentive Program 
 
3.26.010 The purpose of this chapter is to provide an incentive program for the renovation 
and expansion of hotel facilities which: (A) enhance the tourist and travel experience for visitors 
to the City of Nevada City; (B) provide attractive amenities to the public and desirable visitor 
service facilities and experiences; (C) assist the City in achieving its tourism goals; (D) 
encourage continued investment in lodging facilities, and (D) increase the transient occupancy 
tax revenue to the City. In the implementation of this program, the City Council finds: 
       A.   The general welfare and material well-being of the residents of the City depend in 
substantial measure upon the growth and expansion of the tourism and travel industries in the 
City. 
       B.   The renovation and expansion of the inventory of hotels in the City will create desirable 
visitor-serving facilities that will: (1) contribute to the growth and expansion of tourism and 
travel opportunities in the City; (2) provide employment opportunities for the residents of the 
City; (3) provide additional transient occupancy tax revenues to the City; and (4) promote and 
enhance the economy of the City. 
       C.   It is in the best interest of the City to induce and encourage the expanding, renovating 
and maintaining of hotel facilities that might not otherwise be as successful, thereby creating 
new sources of revenues for the city’s general fund which supports the public services the City 
provides its residents and visitors. 
       D.   The authority granted and the purposes to be accomplished by this chapter are proper 
local governmental and public purposes for which public funds can be expended and the 
renovating, maintaining and expanding of the inventory of hotels is of paramount importance to 
the City, its residents, and businesses. 
 
3.26.020 Definitions. 
       For the purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply: 
       “Approved hotel” means any existing hotel which has submitted an application and a 
business plan for participation in the Incentive Program and been approved by the City to 
participate in the Incentive Program. 
       “Business Plan” means a written plan submitted to the City documenting at a minimum 1) 
planned improvements to the hotel property, including the estimated costs of the improvements, 
and 2) an estimate of revenues and expenditures for the operation of the hotel through the term of 
the Hotel Renovation Incentive Program.  The Business Plan shall compare past revenues with 
the future estimated revenues as a result of the proposed new expenditures. 
       “Existing hotel” means any property operating as a hotel containing nine or more guest 
rooms for compensation and where the guest rooms are: (1) designed and intended as transient 

135



occupancy accommodations; and (2) that was issued a final certificate of occupancy on or before 
December 1, 2016. 
 “Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment” means movable furniture, fixtures or other equipment 
that have no permanent connection to the structure of a building or utilities within the Hotel. 
More specifically, furniture, fixtures and /or equipment would include decorative items, wall 
coverings, flooring treatment, window treatments, casework, furnishings and accessories, 
furniture, data communications equipment, voice communications equipment, audio visual 
communications equipment, electronic surveillance equipment, electronic detection and alarm 
equipment, commercial equipment, food service equipment, entertainment equipment, athletic 
and recreational equipment, collection and disposal equipment. Operational supplies include all 
supplies needed for the operation of the hotel such as stationery, computer equipment and 
accessories, guestroom TV’s and mounts, alarm clocks in rooms, linens, pillows, housekeeping 
carts and supplies, trash cans, all items for the hotel restaurant and bar, banquet and conference 
facilities (including china, utensils, glasses, etc.). Furniture, fixtures and equipment, for 
qualifying cost purposes, include all taxes, freight, warehouse expense, installation fees and 
purchasing fees. 
       “Hotel” for the purposes of this Chapter, shall be defined as found in section 17.12.180, 
except that the Incentive Program  shall only apply to properties containing nine or more guest 
rooms for compensation and where the guest rooms are designed and intended as transient 
occupancy accommodations and does not include those properties offered as a “bed and 
breakfast facilities” (as defined in section 17.20.040), “bed and breakfast inns” (as defined in 
section 17.52.020B),  “campground”, “guest houses”, “homeless housing facilities” and 
“residential care homes.” 
        “Hotel Renovation Incentive Program or “Incentive Program” means the transient 
occupancy tax increment rebate program established by this chapter. 
       “Indemnification agreement” means the agreement between the City and an operator in 
which the operator agrees to indemnify and defend the City against any claims or lawsuits that 
are brought against the City (and all liabilities, damages, and costs incurred by the City in 
connection therewith) as a result of the application of this chapter to a hotel participating in the 
incentive Incentive Program. 
        “Operating covenants” means the operating covenants to be recorded against hotel 
properties for hotels participating in the Incentive Program, which shall include provisions 
regarding continuing use of the hotel as a hotel, maintenance, and non-discrimination. 
       “Operator” means the person who runs and operates a hotel, whether in the capacity of 
owner, developer, lessee, sub-lessee, mortgagee in possession, licensee, franchisee, or any other 
capacity, or the assignee or designee of such person. 
 “Shell costs” mean actual and direct third party costs of all materials, labor, and equipment 
associated with the renovation or expansion of the Hotel as determined by the City Manager, 
acting in his/her sole and absolute discretion. Items excluded from Shell Costs include, without 
limitation, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment costs, architectural and engineering fees, permits 
and fees, legal costs, accounting costs, taxes, sales or lease commissions, marketing expenses, 
initial operating capital and other indirect costs, as well as developer or hotel operator overhead. 
       “Tax sharing agreement” means an agreement between the Operator and the City setting 
forth the details and obligations of the parties to renovate a Hotel according to the approved 
Business Plan and receive transient occupancy tax increment as set forth in this Chapter.  
       “Transient occupancy” means a stay of no more than thirty consecutive calendar days. 

136



       “Transient occupancy tax” means the tax established by and paid to the City pursuant to 
Chapter 3.24 of this code. 
       “Transient occupancy tax base” means the historical production of transient occupancy tax 
by an existing hotel calculated as the average transient occupancy tax per year based on the prior 
three years or prior twelve months, whichever is greater, of reported transient occupancy tax due 
to the City, then subsequently adjusted on an annual basis based on the San Francisco Area 
Consumer Price Index – All Urban Consumers published by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.  
       “Transient occupancy tax increment” means, on an annual basis, the difference between the 
transient occupancy tax base and the amount of transient occupancy tax actually received by the 
City from the approved existing hotel after renovation. It is determined by reference to actual 
receipts by the City of transient occupancy tax from the improved approved hotel. Under no 
circumstances shall the City be liable for any reimbursement of transient occupancy tax 
increment not actually received and permanently retained by the City. 
       “Transient occupancy tax sharing” means the rebate from the City to the operator of an 
approved hotel of a portion of that hotel’s transient occupancy tax increment, as determined each 
year for which the tax sharing agreement is valid. The payment of the approved hotel’s portion 
of the transient occupancy tax increment shall be paid to the approved hotel within 30 days after 
the annual anniversary date of the tax sharing agreement. 
       “Under construction” means that all necessary discretionary entitlements have been 
approved by the City, grading and building permits have been issued, inspection approvals by the 
City of grading and foundations to grade level have been obtained, and vertical construction of 
hotel rooms has begun. 
 
3.26.030 Participation requirements. 
       A.   To participate in the Hotel Renovation Incentive Program, the operator of any existing 
eligible hotel which plans a renovation to improve the hotel facility must: 
       1.    Complete and submit to the City Manager an application for participation in the 
Incentive Program on the City’s official Incentive Program application form; 
       2.    Submit a Business Plan in writing documenting at a minimum 1) planned improvements 
to the hotel property, and 2) an estimate of revenues and expenditures for the operation of the 
hotel through the term of the Hotel Renovation Incentive Program and transient occupancy tax 
sharing agreement. 
 3.     Allow the City to inspect the existing hotel to determine that the improvements 
contemplated by the Business Plan, which are the justification for the transient occupancy tax 
sharing, do not already exist, and, upon demand of the City, provide the City with such evidence 
of the approved business’ intention and ability to proceed to construct the necessary 
improvements or make the necessary purchases, as are reasonably satisfactory to the City; 
       4.    Receive approval for participation in the Incentive Program from the City Council; 
       5.    Enter into a transient occupancy tax sharing agreement in the form approved by the City 
which shall include provisions for payment of, and adherence to, prevailing wage requirements, 
and a commitment to use good faith efforts to hire local residents and contract with local 
subcontractors, suppliers and other local businesses for property improvements; 
       6.    Execute and record against the hotel property the operating covenants provided in 
Section 3.26.050; 
       7.    Execute an indemnification agreement in a form approved by the City; and 

137



       8.    Upon completion of the subject improvements or purchases and before transient 
occupancy tax sharing commences, to allow the City to inspect the approved business to verify 
that in fact the contemplated improvements and/or purchases have been made and completed so 
as to enable the business to increase its occupancy and/or room rate. 
 
 B.  Required Level of Improvements for Eligibility 
 1.  Minimum Furniture, Fixture and Equipment Costs of not less than $10,000 per guestroom.  
 2.  In addition to the Furniture, Fixture and Equipment expenditures, Shell/Property 
Improvements totaling at a minimum, $15,000 per guestroom.  
 3. Expenses related to hotel expansion projects are eligible expenses provided they are 
qualifying Shell Costs or Furniture, Fixture and Equipment costs. 
  
3.26.040 City Council Authority; Incentives. 

A.   The City Council is authorized to enter into transient occupancy tax sharing agreements 
and required recordation of operating covenants with hotel operators who have demonstrated 
eligibility and satisfied all Incentive Program participation requirements. 

B. The term of the Incentive Program shall be for 20 years from the date an eligible hotel has 
been approved for participation by the City Council and completes renovations.  

C. From the first year through the tenth year of the date of Incentive Program participation 
approval and completed renovations, the hotel operator shall receive an amount of transient 
occupancy tax increment equal to 85% of the transient occupancy tax increment submitted to the 
City for the prior year.  

D. Starting at the eleventh year and continuing through the fifteenth year of Incentive 
Program participation, the hotel operator shall receive an amount of transient occupancy tax 
increment equal to 65% of the transient occupancy tax increment submitted to the City for the 
prior year. 

E. Starting at the sixteenth year and continuing through the twentieth year of Incentive 
Program participation, the hotel operator shall receive an amount of transient occupancy tax 
increment equal to 50% of the transient occupancy tax increment submitted to the City for the 
prior year. 
        
3.26.050 Operating covenants. 
       Each operator of a hotel which enters into a transient occupancy tax sharing agreement with 
the City shall record against the participating hotel property the following operating covenants, 
to run with the land: 
       A.   Continuing Use and Operation. During the hotel’s participation in the transient 
occupancy tax sharing Incentive Program, the operator covenants and agrees for itself, its 
successors, assigns or designees, to continually operate and use the hotel property as a hotel. 
None of the rooms in the hotel will at any time be utilized as a non-transient residential property 
or rental periods that exceed 30 days, with the exception of senior living units, which may still 
qualify for the Incentive Program so long as they meet all other requirements of the Program. No 
part of the hotel will at any time be owned by a cooperative housing corporation. All uses 
conducted on the hotel property shall conform to all ordinances, statutes, rules and regulations of 
the City, the county of Nevada and the state of California. 
       B.   Maintenance. During the hotel’s participation in the transient occupancy tax sharing 
Incentive Program, the operator covenants and agrees for itself, its successors, assigns or 

138



designees, to continually maintain and repair or cause to be maintained and repaired, the hotel 
property, including, but not limited to, buildings, structures, parking areas, lighting, signs, and 
landscaping, to be in good condition conforming to all applicable laws, including all applicable 
provisions of the City’s Municipal code and to hotel industry standards applicable to that type of 
hotel, and shall keep the hotel property free from any accumulation of debris or waste materials. 
       C.   Nondiscrimination. During the hotel’s participation in the transient occupancy tax 
sharing Incentive Program, the operator covenants and agrees for itself, its successors, assigns or 
designees, that the hotel and any of its employees shall not discriminate against any person on 
the basis of sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, marital status, domestic partnership 
status, sexual orientation, race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, or disability. 
 
3.26.060 General fund revenues. 
       All transient occupancy tax revenues or transient occupancy tax increment remitted to the 
City by an operator of a hotel which enters into a transient occupancy tax sharing agreement with 
the city shall be deemed general fund revenues of the City and shall be deposited in the City’s 
general fund. 
 
3.26.070 Termination of tax sharing. 
       The City may terminate the transient occupancy tax sharing agreement on ten days’ notice if 
the operator violates any of the operating covenants, provided that such violation or violations 
continue to exist at the end of said ten-day period. Specifically, without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, a failure to pay to the City, in a timely manner and in the correct amount, the 
transient occupancy tax which the operator collects shall permit the City to terminate the 
transient occupancy tax sharing agreement. The City shall give notice to the operator as required 
by the terms of the transient occupancy tax sharing agreement. 
 
3.26.080 Administrative rules and regulations. 
       Consistent with the intent and goals of this chapter, the City Manager may adopt 
administrative rules and regulations for implementation and furtherance of the requirements of 
this chapter. 
 
3.26.090 Limitation of remedy. 
 Upon any default of City, the Hotel Operator’s remedy shall be limited to specific 
performance and monetary damages shall not be available. A term to that effect shall be included 
in the tax sharing agreement and/or operating covenants.  
 
3.26.100 Records retention. 
 The Hotel Operator shall retain all Hotel financial records, whether audited or unaudited, 
regarding the Hotel’s revenues subject to City’s Transient Occupancy Tax during the term of the 
Tax Sharing Agreement plus five years. The Hotel Operator agrees to make the Hotel’s financial 
records regarding the Hotel’s revenues subject to City’s Transient Occupancy Tax available to 
the City within 30 days of a written request for City audit purposes. Once the requested financial 
records have been supplied and reviewed or audited, the Hotel Operator’s obligation to provide 
those financial records and subsequent retention shall cease.  
 
3.26.110 Program sunset provision. 

139



 This Hotel Renovation Incentive Program shall terminate as to the acceptance of new 
approvals to the Program from participant Hotels five years after the effective date of the 
adopting ordinance, unless extended by the City Council.   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED  at a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council of the city of 
Nevada City , State of California, on _____________________, 2016, by the following vote: 
 
  AYES: 
 
  NOES: 
 
  ABSENT: 
 
   
  Evans Phelps, Mayor 
 
 
Attest:   
 Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 
I, Niel Locke, duly deputized City Clerk of the City of Nevada City, California, do hereby certify that the 
above is a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 2016-XX duly passed and adopted by the City council 
of the City of Nevada City on the ____ day of ______________, 2016.  

 
  _____________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
  
 
 
 

140



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL 
         City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

December 14, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Ordinance: Adding Chapter 1.22 to Title 1 and Chapter 9.28 to Title 9 of 
the Nevada City Municipal Code Relating to Establish Administrative Enforcement 
and Civil Remedies for Safety Violations on Private Property (First Reading) 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Waive reading of Ordinance, read title only and introduce for 
first reading. 
 
CONTACT:  Timothy A. Foley, Police Chief 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  At the November 9, 2016 City Council Meeting, Vice 
Mayor Strawser and Mayor Phelps requested City staff prepare an ordinance for City 
Council consideration to address various nuisance behaviors and activities that 
compromise public health and safety, but are not necessarily unlawful under the existing 
Municipal Code prohibitions. 
 
The City’s Police Department has received neighborhood complaints about select 
private residences or businesses that have resulted in excessive calls for service. Some 
of the activity reported includes frequent parties, alleged drug activities, excessive 
alcohol consumption, loud vulgar language, disturbing the peace, vandalism, 
harassment, and threats. Similar comments were received via Public Comment 
testimony to the City Council at the Council meeting of November 30. When these types 
of behaviors and activities are allowed to repeatedly occur on the same property, the 
property becomes a chronic nuisance for neighbors and impacts the quality of life, 
safety and health of the neighborhoods where they are located. 
 
The proposed ordinance is intended to serve as a tool for law enforcement to use to 
help remedy chronic nuisance properties and deter such behavior. Under the ordinance, 
property owners who permit, allow, or fail to prevent ongoing behaviors and activities 
will be subject to administrative and civil penalties. The ordinance permits the Police 
Chief to issue a written notice of a safety violation after determining four or more 
verifiable safety violations have occurred within any 12-month period. A failure to cure 
the safety violation may result in either or both of the following actions and/or fines: 
 

1. Fines of $1,000 per safety violation; and/or 
2. Civil action for injunctive relief, closure of the property for up to one year, and civil 

penalties in an amount not to exceed $25,000. 
 
Fines will not be enforced, nor will civil action be commenced if the Police Chief 
determines the property owner is making a good faith effort to correct the safety 
violation. Property owners are permitted a reasonable time to abate the particular 
violation and a right to appeal citations issued.  

141

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 
The proposed ordinance is modeled after an ordinance in the City of Grass Valley. The 
Grass Valley staff indicate the ordinance has been an effective tool when 
communicating with property owners about the need to remedy nuisance behavior at 
their property. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

 
 Proposed Ordinance and Exhibits 

142



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-XX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADOPTING AND ADDING 
CHAPTER 1.22 TO TITLE 1 AND CHAPTER 9.28 TO TITLE 9 OF THE 
NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE TO ESTABLISH ADMINISTRATIVE 
ENFORCEMENT AND CIVIL REMEDIES FOR SAFETY VIOLATIONS 

 
WHEREAS, Title 9 of the Nevada City Municipal Code titled Public Peace, 
Morals and Welfare identifies certain kinds of conduct compromising public 
health and safety as unlawful and provides penalties for violations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has become aware that there are other 
ongoing behaviors and activities constituting safety violations that compromise 
public health and safety and should be prohibited; but that are not yet made 
unlawful under the existing prohibitions of Title 9; and  
 
WHEREAS, it would be desirable to provide administrative enforcement and 
summary abatement to compel private property owners to prevent or cause such 
conduct to cease on their property and there is no such administrative 
enforcement remedy provided for in Title 1 of the Nevada City Municipal Code. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Nevada 
City as follows: 
 
SECTION I: 
 
Chapter 1.22 Administrative Enforcement as set forth in Exhibit “A”, attached 
hereto and incorporated by such reference, is hereby adopted and added to Title 
1 of the Nevada City Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION II: 
 
Chapter 9.28 Conduct on Private Property as set forth in Exhibit “B”, attached 
hereto and incorporated by such reference is hereby adopted, and added to Title 
9 of the Nevada City Municipal Code. 
  
 
SECTION III:  
 
It is the intent of the City Council of the City of Nevada City to supplement 
applicable state and federal law and not to duplicate or contradict such law and 
this ordinance shall be construed consistently with that intention. If any section, 
subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance, 
or its application to any person or circumstance, is for any reason held to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the 
validity or enforceability of the remaining sections, subsections, subdivisions, 

143



paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of this Ordinance, or its application to 
any other entity or circumstance. The City Council of the City of Nevada City 
hereby declares that it would have adopted each section, subsection, 
subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase hereof, irrespective of the 
fact that any one or more other sections, subsections, subdivisions, paragraphs, 
sentences, clauses or phrases hereof be declared invalid or unenforceable. 
 
 
SECTION IV: 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the adoption date 
thereof and within fifteen (15) days of the passage of this Ordinance, the City 
Clerk shall publish this Ordinance in The Union, a newspaper of general 
circulation. 
 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of _______, 2017 by the following 
vote: 
 
AYES:   
 
NOES:   
 
ABSTAIN:  
 
ABSENT:  

           
  _________________________________ 

      Evans Phelps, Mayor 
ATTEST:___________________ 
               Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 

144



 

 

  Page 1 

Chapter 1.22 

ADMINISTRATIVE ENFORCEMENT 

Sections: 

1.22.010 Authority of enforcement officer. 

1.22.020 Notice of violation. 

1.22.030 Authority to order abatement or impose administrative fine. 

1.22.040 Time allowed for abatement. 

1.22.050 Imposition of fines and/or penalties. 

1.22.060 Payment and collection of administrative penalty. 

1.22.070 Appeal of notice of violation or other enforcement action. 

1.22.080 Enforcement stayed during appeal. 

1.22.090 Appeals hearings. 

1.22.100 Decisions of the hearing officer and administrative order. 

1.22.110 Judicial review. 

1.22.120 Recovery of costs of abatement. 

1.22.130 Cost accounts. 

1.22.140 Imposition of liens or special assessments. 

1.22.150 Summary abatement procedure. 

1.22.160 Enforcement methods provided herein not exclusive. 

 

1.22.010   Authority of enforcement officer.  

An enforcement officer shall have the authority to gain compliance with this code, 
including the power to issue a notice of violation ("NOV") as described below, the power 
to inspect public and private property, the power to record a notice of violation against 
any property related to the violation, and the power to carry out the provisions of an 

145



 

 

  Page 2 

abatement order. An enforcement officer may also issue an abatement order or impose 
any penalty permitted under this code or any other applicable law as described below.  

1.22.020   Notice of violation.  

A. Whenever an enforcement officer finds that a provision of this code has been violated, 
including, but not limited to, a failure to comply with a condition imposed by any 
agreement, entitlement, permit, license or environmental document issued or 
approved by or on behalf of city, city's redevelopment agency, or a failure to comply 
with any other laws the violation of which constitutes a nuisance condition, and such 
officer elects to pursue administrative enforcement pursuant to this chapter, he or she 
may issue the responsible party a NOV. The information on the NOV may include an 
order requiring the responsible party to appear at a hearing and show cause why a 
penalty should not be imposed or why such nuisance should not be abated by city at 
the responsibly party's expense. Such NOV shall be served on the responsible party 
in the manner described in subsection B of this section. The enforcement officer shall 
include the following information in the NOV:  

1. The date and location of the violation, including the address or other description 
of the location where the violation occurred or is occurring and a brief description 
of the conditions observed that constitute a violation;  

2. The name(s) of the responsible party(ies), if known; 

3. The code section(s) being violated and a description of the section(s); 

4. Actions required to correct, abate or mitigate the nuisance condition, and a period 
of time during which action(s) shall be commenced and completed, considering 
the factors listed in Section 1.22.040 of this chapter;  

5. An order prohibiting the continuation or repeated occurrence of a nuisance 
condition or violation of this code described in the NOV;  

6. A statement that the person upon whom the NOV is served may appeal the 
determination that there is/are violation(s) as alleged, that the person who was 
served with the NOV is the responsible party, or that the amount of any 
administrative fine imposed is warranted. The NOV will instruct the person being 
served as to the proper procedure and timeframe for submitting an appeal;  

7. The signature of the citing enforcement officer and city contact information 
(address, telephone number) for additional information.  

B. The NOV shall be served upon the responsible party or owner personally or by U.S. 
mail, first class postage prepaid, and if by such mail, it shall be sent to the last known 
address listed on the most recent tax assessor's records. In the case of personal 
service, service shall be deemed complete at the time of such delivery. In the case of 
service by first class mail, service shall be deemed complete at the time of deposit 
into the U.S. mail. Where service is by first class mail, a copy of the NOV shall be 
conspicuously posted at the affected property when reasonably practicable for a 
period of not less than three calendar days prior to the first date that commencement 
of corrective action or abatement is to be undertaken. The failure to receive a NOV 

146



 

 

  Page 3 

sent via first class mail shall not affect the validity of any enforcement proceedings 
under this chapter.  

C. Proof of service shall be certified by a written declaration under penalty of perjury 
executed by the person effecting service, declaring the date, time, and manner of 
service, and the date and place of posting, if applicable. The declaration shall be 
affixed to a copy of the NOV and retained by the enforcement officer.  

D. The failure of a NOV to satisfy all of the requirements of this provision shall not affect 
the validity of any other enforcement proceedings under this code. 

E.   An NOV is not required if the enforcement officer determines that summary abatement 
is required, pursuant to Section 1.22.150 of this chapter 

1.22.030   Authority to order abatement or impose administrative fine.  

Subject to the provisions of Section 1.14.010 of this chapter, an enforcement officer 
shall have the authority to impose the remedies under this chapter, including issuing an 
abatement order and/or imposing a penalty on the responsible party. Any abatement 
order or penalty may be included in the NOV or may be sent to the responsible party 
through a separate notice. If notice of an abatement order or penalty is sent via separate 
notice, the service of the notice shall follow the procedures described in Section 
1.22.000.B of this chapter. If an order to abate a nuisance condition is issued to the 
responsible party, the order shall advise the party that a failure to abate the nuisance 
condition in the manner and by the time specified may result in a subsequent order 
allowing the city to abate, or cause to be abated, the nuisance condition at the responsible 
party's expense.  

1.22.040   Time allowed for abatement.  

If an abatement order is issued, the time allowed for abatement shall be a "reasonable 
time" based upon the circumstances of the particular violation, taking into consideration 
the means required to abate the violation, the period of time that the violation has existed, 
and the potential threat to public health and safety created by the violation. If the violation 
pertains to building, plumbing, electrical, mechanical or other similar structural or zoning 
issues and does not pose an imminent or immediate threat of harm to persons or property, 
or to public health, welfare or safety, the responsible party shall be provided not less than 
fifteen days in which to abate or otherwise remedy the violation. The determination of 
timely compliance, abatement, mitigation or elimination of the violation shall be made by 
the enforcement officer or other authorized city official.  

1.22.050   Imposition of fines and/or penalties.  

Any nuisance condition or violation of any provision of this code, including a failure to 
comply with a condition imposed by any agreement, entitlement, permit, license or 
environmental document issued or approved by or on behalf of city or city's 
redevelopment agency, or a failure to comply with any county, state or federal law may 
subject the responsible party to a penalty imposed pursuant to city's general police 
powers, and/or Government Code Sections 36901 and 53069.4.  

147



 

 

  Page 4 

A. The amount of any penalty that may be imposed for a violation that would 
otherwise be an infraction shall not exceed the amounts set forth in Government 
Code Section 36900(b), as amended from time to time. The amount of any 
penalty that may be imposed for all other violations (i.e., violations that would 
otherwise be misdemeanors) shall not exceed one thousand dollars per day. In 
determining the amount of a penalty, the following factors should be taken into 
consideration:  

1. Duration of the violation; 

2. Frequency, reoccurrence, or number of violations by the same person; 

3. Seriousness of the violation and/or its impact on the community and/or the 
degree of culpability of the responsible party;  

4. Justification, if any, for the existence, or continuance, of the violation; 

5. Whether the violation is susceptible to restoration or other mitigation; 

6. Good faith efforts to mitigate the violation or to come into compliance, 
pursuant to the terms of the NOV or abatement order;  

7. Sensitivity of any affected resource; 

8. Any profits or other economic benefit realized by the responsible party 
resulting, directly or indirectly, from the violation;  

9. The city's schedule of administrative penalties; and 

10. Such other factors as justice may require. 

B. Each and every day during any portion of which a nuisance conditions exists or 
continues may be deemed a separate and distinct violation for purposes of setting 
the amount of penalty to be imposed. Any penalty imposed will accrue on a daily 
basis from the date the penalty becomes effective until the violation is corrected.  

C. Any penalty amount is a debt owed to city. In addition to all other means of 
enforcement, a penalty may be enforced as a personal obligation of the 
responsible party. If the violation is in connection with real property, a penalty 
may also be enforced by imposition of a lien or special assessment upon the real 
property, as described in Section 1.22.140 of this chapter. Any lien or special 
assessment imposed upon real property shall remain in effect until the penalty is 
paid in full.  

D. The hearing officer, in its discretion, may suspend the imposition of any 
applicable penalty for a period of time not to exceed sixty days during which the 
responsible party has demonstrated a willingness to comply with the order, or 
has applied for permits required to achieve compliance and such permit 
applications are actively pending before, or have already been issued by, city, 
the state, or other appropriate governmental agency, or under any other 
circumstances that would justify a suspension of the penalty.  

 

148



 

 

  Page 5 

1.22.060   Payment and collection of administrative penalty.  

A. If a penalty is imposed and the responsible party fails to appeal the penalty as 
specified in Section 1.22.070 of this chapter, the responsible party shall pay the 
amount of the penalty within thirty days of service of the NOV or order imposing same, 
unless an extension of time is requested by the party against whom the penalty is 
imposed and the request is granted by the manager of issuing department/division. 
Any penalty imposed shall be payable to city, or to a collection agency if the penalty 
has been assigned to a collection agency pursuant to subsection C of this section.  

B. If the amount of any penalty imposed for a violation relating to an affected property 
has not been satisfied in full within sixty days of the date due and has not been 
successfully challenged by appeal or in court, the penalty amount may become a 
special assessment or lien against the affected property, as provided in Section 
1.22.140 of this chapter. If city elects to make any penalty a special assessment or 
lien against the affected property, a statement of the amount due, and any additional 
costs or expenses that might be recoverable as part of the enforcement action, shall 
be prepared and submitted to the city council for confirmation in accordance with the 
procedures described in Section 1.22.130 of this chapter.  

C. Notwithstanding subsection B of this section, the amount of any unpaid penalty may 
be collected by commencement of a civil action to collect such penalty, or in any other 
manner provided by law for the collection of debts, including assignment of the debt 
to a collection agency. Subject to the requirements of this chapter and other 
applicable law, amounts assigned for collection are subject to collection agency rules, 
regulations and policies. City shall be entitled to recover any and all costs associated 
with collection of any such penalty.  

D. The payment of a penalty by or on behalf of any responsible party shall not relieve 
such party from the responsibility of correcting, removing or abating the nuisance 
condition, or performing restoration where required, nor prevent further proceedings 
under this chapter or any other authority to achieve the correction, removal or 
abatement of the nuisance, or any required restoration.  

1.22.070   Appeal of NOV or other enforcement action.  

A. A person or entity named as the responsible party in a NOV, abatement order, or 
other enforcement action may appeal the determination that there is/are violation(s) 
as alleged in the NOV, that the person or entity who was served with the NOV or 
abatement order is the responsible party, that a penalty or the amount of a penalty is 
warranted, or any other terms of an abatement order.  

B. Any person appealing a NOV, abatement order, or penalty must obtain a "Request 
for Hearing" form from the city clerk located at the Nevada City City Hall, 317 Broad 
Street, Nevada City, California 95959 and return it to the city clerk fully completed 
within fifteen days from the date of service of the NOV or notice of the abatement 
order or penalty.  

C. At the time of returning the request for hearing form to the city clerk, the person or 
entity requesting the appeals hearing shall pay an appeals processing fee of two 

149



 

 

  Page 6 

hundred dollars and shall deposit in advance the amount of any fine. No appeal shall 
proceed without payment of the fee at the time the appeal is filed provided that the 
city clerk may waive or defer the appeal fee upon written request for good cause 
shown. Good cause may include severe economic hardship, significant attempts to 
comply with the notice and order, and other factors indicating good faith attempts to 
comply.  

D. Failure to timely submit a completed request for hearing form or to pay the appeals 
processing fee of two hundred dollars and advance deposit of any fine constitutes a 
waiver of the right to appeal, a failure to exhaust administrative remedies and shall 
preclude judicial review.  

1.22.080   Enforcement stayed during appeal.  

Enforcement of a NOV, abatement order or penalty shall be stayed during the 
pendency of an appeal therefrom which is properly and timely filed.  

1.22.090   Appeals hearings.  

A. An appeals hearing based on a request for hearing shall be set for a date not less 
than ten days nor more than sixty days from the date the request for hearing form is 
filed unless the enforcement officer determines that the matter is urgent or that good 
cause exists for an extension of time, in which case the hearing date may be 
shortened or extended, as warranted by the circumstances.  

B. A hearing under authority of this section shall be conducted according to the 
procedures set forth herein. The failure of the responsible party or other interested 
party to appear at the hearing shall constitute a waiver of the right to such hearing 
and a failure by such party to exhaust his/her administrative remedies:  

1. When a request for hearing is filed, the city clerk shall set the time and place for 
hearing pursuant to subsection A of this section, and shall serve a notice of 
hearing either personally or by U.S. mail, first class postage prepaid, to the 
appellant at the address provided in the request for hearing form. The time for 
such hearing shall be no sooner than ten days from the date of service of the 
notice of hearing.  

2. At the place and time set forth in the notice of hearing, the hearing officer shall 
conduct a hearing on the alleged violations. Any responsible party or other 
interested person(s) may appear and offer evidence as to whether a violation has 
occurred and/or whether the violation continues to exist, whether the person cited 
in the NOV is the responsible party for any such violation, or any other matter 
pertaining thereto. Evidence presented by the enforcement officer or other official 
of the city tending to show that a violation occurred and that the person named 
on the NOV is the responsible party shall establish a prima facie case that a 
violation, as charged, actually existed and that the person named in the NOV is 
the responsible party for the violation. The burden of proof shall then be on the 
responsible party to refute such evidence. The standard to be applied for meeting 
such burden shall be a preponderance of evidence.  

150



 

 

  Page 7 

3. The hearing officer will consider written or oral testimony or other evidence 
regarding the violation presented by the responsible party, the owner, the 
occupant, any officer, employee, or agent of the city, and any other interested 
party. Evidence offered during a hearing must be credible and relevant in the 
estimation of the hearing officer, but formal rules governing the presentation and 
consideration of evidence will not apply.  

4. The hearing officer shall conduct the hearing, order the presentation of evidence, 
and make any rulings necessary to address procedural issues presented during 
the course of the hearing.  

5. After receiving all of the evidence presented, the hearing officer may then 
deliberate and consider what action, if any, should be taken, or may adjourn the 
hearing and take the matter under consideration.  

1.22.100   Decision of the hearing officer and administrative order.  

A. Within ten days following the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer shall make 
a decision regarding the issues presented during the course of the hearing, and the 
decision shall be based on a preponderance of the evidence. After making its 
decision, the hearing officer may issue an administrative order. If the hearing officer 
finds that no violation occurred, that the violation was corrected within the specified 
time period, or that the person cited is not the responsible party, the administrative 
order shall reflect those facts.  

B. The responsible party and any interested party requesting a copy of an administrative 
order shall be served with a copy of said order in the same manner as used for service 
of a notice of hearing as described in subsection 1.22.090.B.1 of this chapter. Proof 
of service of the administrative order shall be certified by a written declaration under 
penalty of perjury executed by the person effecting service, declaring the date, time, 
and manner that service was made.  

C. An administrative order shall become effective and enforceable immediately after 
announcement or service of such order unless the order includes a later effective 
date. It shall include a statement of the right to have the order judicially reviewed in 
the manner and in the timeframes specified in Section 1.22.110 of this chapter.  

D. An administrative order may include any combination of the following remedies: 

1. Impose a penalty, subject to Government Code Sections 36900(b) and 53069.4; 

2. Issue a "cease and desist" order requiring the responsible party, or any agent, 
representative, employee, or contractor of the responsible party, to immediately 
stop any act, conduct, or condition, that is a violation of this code. A cease and 
desist order issued pursuant to this section shall be effective upon issuance and 
shall be served on the responsible party in the manner specified in subsection 
1.22.020.B of this chapter;  

3. Require the responsible party to correct or eliminate any violation, including a 
proposed schedule for correction or elimination of said violation within a 
reasonable time. If a violation pertains to building, plumbing, electrical, or any 

151



 

 

  Page 8 

other structural or zoning issues and the violation does not create an immediate 
threat to health or safety, the responsible party shall be provided at least fifteen 
calendar days to correct, abate, or otherwise remedy the violation;  

4. Require the responsible party, or authorize city, to restore a site or location that 
has been damaged or disturbed as a result of a violation of this code to a pre-
violation condition. Any order authorizing city to undertake restoration efforts shall 
include provisions for the city to recover all restoration costs and expenses, 
including administrative expenses, from the responsible party;  

5. Require the responsible party, or authorize the city, to mitigate any damage or 
disturbance to protected or environmentally sensitive areas as a result of any 
violation, including without limitation, off-site replacement of damaged or 
destroyed natural resources where on-site restoration or mitigation is not feasible, 
as determined by the city. Any order authorizing the city to undertake mitigation 
efforts shall include provisions for the city to recover all costs of abatement, 
including mitigation costs and expenses, from the responsible party;  

6. Impose conditions that restrict or regulate the development of, use of, or activity 
on real property where a nexus exists between the violation(s) and the 
development, use or activity. Conditions may be imposed until the violations are 
fully abated. Restrictions and regulations on current or future development, use 
or activity may include site restoration and/or the suspension or revocation of any 
entitlements issued by city;  

7. Authorize the city to abate or cause the abatement of a nuisance condition where 
the responsible party has refused or has otherwise neglected to take steps to 
correct or eliminate said conditions. Costs may be recovered by the city as a 
personal obligation and/or through a lien or a special assessment on the affected 
property as provided in Section 1.22.120 of this chapter;  

8. Sustain, modify, or overrule an abatement order issued by an enforcement 
officer; 

9. Any other order or remedy that serves the interests of justice. 

E. The city may seek to enforce any administrative order by confirmation from a court of 
competent jurisdiction. Any administrative order that is judicially confirmed may be 
enforced through normal enforcement measures, including without limitation, criminal 
contempt proceedings upon a subsequent violation of such order.  

1.22.110   Judicial review.  

A. Any responsible party who is aggrieved by a decision of a hearing officer, or of a 
board, commission, department, agency, or person authorized to render such a 
decision on behalf of city pursuant to this chapter, and who has exhausted the 
administrative remedies provided in this code, or any other applicable law, shall have 
the right to seek judicial review of such decision by filing a petition for writ of mandate 
in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.5. A petition for writ of 
mandate must be filed within ninety days after the administrative decision becomes 
final (as determined in Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6). Notwithstanding 

152



 

 

  Page 9 

these time limits, where a shorter time limitation is provided by any other law, 
including that set forth in Government Code Section 53069.4 (see subsection E of 
this section), such shorter time limit shall apply.  

B. Written notice of the time limitation in which a party may seek judicial review of an 
administrative decision shall be given to all responsible parties in the matter by city 
in substantially the following form:  

"Judicial review of this decision may be sought by following the procedure 
outlined in Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.5. Judicial review must be sought 
not later than the 90th day following the date on which this decision becomes final, 
except that where a shorter time is provided by any State or Federal law, such shorter 
time limit shall apply."  

C. This section shall not be deemed to revive any cause of action or grounds for relief 
through a special proceeding that is barred by law or equity.  

D. All costs of preparing a record that may be recovered by a local agency pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.5(a) or successor statute shall be paid by the 
petitioner prior to delivery of the record to petitioner.  

E. Any responsible party against whom a penalty has been imposed and who has 
exhausted the administrative remedies provided in this code or other applicable law 
may obtain judicial review of said penalty pursuant to Government Code Section 
53069.4 by filing an appeal to the Nevada County Superior Court, subject to the time 
limits described therein. Any such appeal shall be filed as a limited civil case. Written 
notice of the subject time limits shall be given to all responsible parties against whom 
a penalty is imposed in substantially the following form:  

"The time within which judicial review of the Penalty imposed by this Order must 
be sought is governed by Government Code Section 53069.4. Judicial review must 
be sought not later than 20 days after service of the Order imposing or confirming 
such Penalty."  

1.22.120   Recovery of costs of abatement.  

City may elect to recover its costs to abate nuisance conditions, including without 
limitation, the costs of any appeals hearing (including staff time necessary to prepare for 
and attend an appeals hearing), any re-inspections required to determine or confirm that 
compliance has been achieved, production of all staff reports, environmental tests or 
measurements that are deemed necessary or appropriate by the enforcement officer, 
third party inspection(s) or consultant services as deemed necessary by the city and any 
attorney's fees incurred in pursuing enforcement. If city elects at the initiation of an 
administrative enforcement action or proceeding to seek recovery of attorney's fees, 
pursuant to Government Code Section 38773.5(b), then the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover attorney's fees in an amount not to exceed the amount of attorney's 
fees incurred by city in such action. Recovery by City of the costs of enforcement shall be 
in addition to any penalty imposed on the responsible party.  

1.22.130   Cost accounts.  

153



 

 

  Page 10 

A. If any order authorizes city to abate a nuisance condition, the city official responsible 
for such abatement shall keep an accounting of the cost of abatement along with any 
other recoverable costs, and shall render a written report ("the Cost Report") to the 
city council showing the cost of removing and/or abating the nuisance condition and 
describing the work performed. The cost report shall be agendized as a "public 
hearing" item by the city clerk at a subsequent city council meeting following the 
required notice periods.  

B. At least ten days prior to the submission of the cost report to the city council, the city 
clerk shall cause a copy of the cost report to be mailed to the responsible party and/or 
to the owner of the property where the nuisance condition existed. If the nuisance 
concerns real property, a copy of the cost report shall be mailed to the owner(s) at 
the address shown for such owner(s) on the last tax roll. The city clerk shall also 
cause a notice of hearing to be mailed to the same person(s) or entity receiving a 
copy of the cost report. The notice of hearing shall set forth the date, time and location 
of the city council meeting at which the cost report shall be submitted to the city 
council.  

C. At the time and place fixed for receiving and considering the cost report, the city 
council shall hear a summary of the cost report and any objections by the responsible 
party or property owner against whom such costs are being charged or against whose 
property an abatement lien or special assessment may be imposed. After considering 
the cost report and any objections thereto, the city council may make such 
modifications to the cost report as it deems appropriate, after which the report shall 
be confirmed by order of the city council.  

D. A copy of a council order confirming costs against the responsible party shall be 
served on the responsible party within ten days of such order in the manner described 
in Section 1.22.020.B of this chapter. Any responsible party against whom costs of 
abatement and any other costs are awarded by council order shall have the right to 
seek judicial review of such order by filing a petition for writ of mandate in accordance 
with Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.5. Such petition must be filed within sixty 
days of service of the order.  

1.22.140   Imposition of liens or special assessments.  

A. Any penalty imposed for violations of this code, including any other codes or statutes 
that have been incorporated into this code, any administrative costs or other 
expenses of enforcement, and the cost or expenses associated with the abatement 
of a nuisance condition that are levied in accordance with this chapter, whether 
imposed or levied judicially or administratively, may be enforced by the recordation 
of a lien against the property of the owner of the real property where the nuisance 
condition existed. Any such lien shall be recorded in the office of the Nevada County 
recorder, and from the date of recording shall have the force, effect, and priority of a 
judgment lien. A lien authorized by this subsection shall specify the amount of the 
lien, that the lien is being imposed on behalf of city, the date of the abatement order, 
the street address, legal description and assessor's parcel number of the parcel on 

154



 

 

  Page 11 

which the lien is imposed, and the name and address of the record owner of the 
parcel.  

B. Before recordation of a lien authorized by this section, a notice of lien shall be served 
on the responsible party and/or owner of record of the parcel of land on which the 
nuisance existed, based on the last equalized assessment roll or the supplemental 
roll, whichever is more current. The notice of lien shall be served in the same manner 
as a summons in a civil action. If the owner of record cannot be found, after a diligent 
search, the notice of lien may be served by posting a copy thereof in a conspicuous 
place upon the property for a period of ten days and publication thereof in a 
newspaper of general circulation published in Nevada County.  

C. Any fee imposed on city by the county recorder for costs of processing and recording 
the lien as well as the cost of providing notice to the owner in the manner described 
herein may be recovered from the owner in any foreclosure action to enforce the lien 
following recordation.  

D. As an alternative to the lien procedure described above, any penalty imposed for 
violations of this code, including any other codes or statutes that have been 
incorporated into this code, and any costs of enforcement or administration or 
expenses associated with the abatement of any nuisance levied in accordance with 
this chapter, whether imposed or levied judicially or administratively, may become a 
special assessment against the real property where the nuisance condition(s) 
existed. Any special assessment imposed on real property pursuant to this section 
may be collected at the same time and in the same manner as ordinary municipal 
taxes are collected, and shall be subject to the same penalties and the same 
procedure and sale in case of delinquency as is provided for ordinary municipal taxes. 
Notice of any special assessment that is levied on real property pursuant to this 
section shall be given to the owner by certified mail, and shall contain the information 
set forth in Government Code Section 38773.5(c). All laws applicable to the levy, 
collection, and enforcement of municipal taxes, including those described in 
Government Code Section 38773.5(c), shall be applicable to such special 
assessment.  

1.22.150   Summary abatement procedure.  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this code, whenever, in the reasonable 
judgment of the enforcement officer, the existence or continuance of any violation of this 
code or any nuisance condition poses an imminent or immediate threat of harm to persons 
or property, or to public health, welfare or safety, an enforcement officer may act 
immediately and without prior notice or hearing to abate such violation or condition. The 
expense or cost resulting from such summary abatement shall be enforceable as a 
personal obligation of the responsible party and may be imposed as a lien or a special 
assessment on real property, as described in Section 1.22.140 of this chapter.  

1.22.160   Enforcement methods provided herein not exclusive.  

Nothing in this chapter shall prevent city from initiating any other legal or equitable 
proceeding to obtain compliance or to discourage noncompliance with the provisions of 

155



 

 

  Page 12 

this code. The enforcement procedures described in this chapter are intended to be 
alternative methods of obtaining compliance or discouraging noncompliance and are 
expressly intended to be in addition to any other remedies provided by law or this code. 
If is the intent of the city council that the immunities prescribed in Penal Code Section 
836.5 and Government Code Section 820.2 shall be applicable to the enforcement officer, 
and any other public officers or employees, acting in the course and scope of employment 
pursuant to this chapter.  

156



 

 

  Page 1 

Chapter 9.28 

CONDUCT ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 

Sections: 

9.28.010 Purpose. 

9.28.020 Definitions. 

9.28.030 Scope of application. 

9.28.040 Dual responsibility. 

9.28.050 Authority. 

9.28.060 Private right of action. 

9.28.070 Safety violations. 

9.28.080 Safety violations prohibited. 

9.28.090 Notice of safety violation. 

9.28.100 Notice of administrative citation. 

9.28.110 Right to a hearing. 

9.28.120 Safety violation enforcement and fines. 

9.28.130 Property owner notification. 

9.28.010 - Purpose.  

The purpose of this chapter is to provide administrative and civil remedies against 
property owners who permit, allow, or fail to prevent ongoing behaviors and/or activities 
to occur on their properties that compromise public health and/or safety. It is not the 
purpose of this chapter to subject property owners to any legal liability resulting from a 
tenant's actions occurring away from the owner's property.  

9.28.020 - Definitions.  

The following words and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall be construed as 
defined in this section, unless it is apparent from the context that they have a different 
meaning:  

"Administrative expenses" shall include, but not be limited to: 

1. The costs associated with any hearings before a hearing officer, including, but not 
limited to, all expenses and charges of the hearing officer relating to any hearing. 

157



 

 

  Page 2 

2. City's personnel costs, direct and indirect, incurred in enforcing this chapter and 
in preparing for, participating in, or conducting any hearings subject to this 
chapter, including, but not limited to, attorney's fees.  

3. The cost incurred by the city in documenting the safety violations, including, but 
not limited to, the actual expense and costs of the city responding to the safety 
violation(s); investigating and enforcing statutory crimes related to the safety 
violation, including, but not limited to, court appearances; conducting inspections; 
attending hearings; and preparing notices, administrative citations, and orders.  

"Chief of police" shall mean the chief of police or his/her designee. 

"City" means the City of Nevada City. 

"Drug related nuisance" means any activity related to the possession, sale, use, or 
manufacturing of an illegal drug or narcotic that creates an unreasonable interference 
with the comfortable enjoyment of life, property, or the safety and welfare of the 
residents of the property, the neighborhood, or the public. These activities include, but 
are not limited to, any activity commonly associated with illegal drug use and dealing, 
such as noise, steady foot and vehicle traffic day and night to a particular property, 
possession of weapons, drug loitering (as defined in California Health and Safety Code 
Section 11532), possession of stolen property, identity theft, possession of property 
with serial numbers removed, evidence of forgery or fraud, or other drug related 
activities.  

"Enforcement officer" means any person authorized by the chief of police pursuant 
to this chapter to enforce violations of this chapter.  

"Gang related crime" means any crime motivated by gang membership in which 
the perpetrator, victim, or intended victim is a known member of a gang.  

"Hearing officer" means any person appointed pursuant to chapter 1.22 of the 
Nevada City Municipal Code to preside over hearings, including those hearings 
required by this chapter.  

"Notice of safety violation" means the notice provided to a property owner and/or 
tenant indicating that a safety violation has occurred on the property, and that the 
property owner and tenant may be subject to fines for any additional safety violations.  

"Owner" and "property owner" have the same meaning and may be used 
interchangeably and shall mean the owner or owners of record of the subject real 
property as shown on the latest equalized tax assessment roll of Nevada County or 
as otherwise actually known to the chief of police.  

"Person" means individual(s), corporations, associations, partnerships, limited 
liability companies, trustees, lessees, agents and assignees.  

"Real property" or "property" have the same meaning and may be used 
interchangeably and shall mean the lot or parcel of land for which the owner has legal 
ownership or exercises custody or control thereof.  

"Safety violation" means those activities set forth in Section 9.28.070.  

158



 

 

  Page 3 

"Tenant" means that person(s), visitor(s), or transient(s) utilizing, leasing, residing 
at, or occupying the real property in question regardless of whether a lease or contract 
exists between the parties; such occupancy may last for any limited period of time.  

"Verifiable safety violation" means: 

1. A safety violation observed by a peace officer, as peace officer is defined in 
the California Penal Code; or  

2. A call for law enforcement service to the Nevada City police department by a 
known person who is identifiable, and provides information to support the 
existence of a safety violation; or  

3. A call for service to the Nevada City police department by an unknown person 
if the event is substantiated by an identifiable witness or peace officer, as 
defined by the California Penal Code. 

“Visitor” means a person other than the owner or a person holding any 
possessory interest in the property occupying or using the real property with the 
knowledge and consent of the owner or the tenant. 

9.28.030 - Scope of application.  

A. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all real property whether owner 
occupied or a rental property, whether residential, commercial, industrial, improved, or 
unimproved, throughout the city wherein any of the safety violations are found to exist.  

B. A criminal conviction is not required for establishing the occurrence of a safety 
violation pursuant to this chapter.  

C. The remedies set forth in this chapter are cumulative and additional to any and all 
other legal remedies available whether set forth elsewhere in the Nevada City Municipal 
Code, or any applicable, state or federal laws, rules or regulations.  

9.28.040 - Dual responsibility.  

A. Every person owning, possessing, or having charge or control of real property 
within the city is required to manage that property and control the environment thereon in 
a manner so as not to violate the provisions of this chapter. If the property is not owner 
occupied, both the owner of real property and the occupying tenant shall be liable for 
safety violations as set forth in detail herein, regardless of any contract or agreement with 
any third party regarding the property.  

B. Every tenant, occupant, lessee, or holder of any possessory interest in real 
property shall:  

1. Comply with all federal, state, and local laws applicable to the property. 

2. Supervise or cause to be supervised anyone utilizing, residing at, or occupying 
the property, with or without consent of the owner, consistent with this chapter.  

3. Maintain the property in a manner so as not to violate the provisions of this 
chapter 

159



 

 

  Page 4 

9.28.050 - Authority.  

The chief of police shall be responsible for administering and enforcing the provisions 
of this chapter. The chief of police shall have the authority to designate employees as 
enforcement officers in conformance with this chapter to assist with enforcement 
responsibilities of this chapter, including, but not limited to, the issuance of notices of 
safety violations and/or administrative citations as provided for herein.  

9.28.060 - Private right of action.  

Notwithstanding any other provision in this chapter to the contrary, if a tenant's 
conduct or action gives rise to any citation and order under Section 9.28.070 below, a 
property owner shall have the right, in addition to any other remedies that the property 
owner may have under the applicable lease, rental agreement, or the California Code of 
Civil Procedure, to use the citation and order as evidence of a nuisance for purposes of 
any eviction proceeding.  

9.28.070 - Safety violations.  

A. Safety violation shall mean any of the following activities or behaviors that occur 
on a property, or have found to originate from the property or by persons connected to 
the property:  

1. The illegal sale of controlled substances and other illegal drugs and substances 
which creates a public nuisance as defined in Civil Code Sections 3479 and 3480;  

2. The illegal use of controlled substances and other illegal drugs and substances 
which creates a public nuisance as defined in Civil Code Sections 3479 and 3480;  

3. The frequent gathering, or coming and going, of people on the property who have 
an intent to purchase or use controlled substances;  

4. The occurrence of prostitution or the unlawful activities of a criminal street gang, 
as defined in Penal Code Section 186.22;  

5. The repeated making or continuing, or causing to be made, of any noise in 
violation of standards set forth in Chapter 8.20, which disturbs the peace and 
quiet of the neighborhood or which causes discomfort or annoyance to any 
reasonable person of normal sensitivity residing in the area;  

6. The firing of gunshots or brandishing of weapons by a resident of the property, or 
by a guest of a resident (except as permissible by law);  

7. The occurrence of malicious mischief including vandalism or actions that damage 
property or cause or attempt to cause personal injury;  

8. Arrests or detentions for drunkenness linked to the property or for providing 
alcoholic beverages to, or permitting consumption of, alcoholic beverages by any 
person under twenty-one years of age on the property;  

9. Harassment of other persons wherein such harassment involves repeated threats 
of physical harm to others or actions which may cause physical harm to others or 
to those who report illegal activity or safety violations related to the property.  

160



 

 

  Page 5 

10. The occurrence of any other criminal activity not specified in this section which 
threatens the life, health, safety or welfare of the residents of the property, the 
neighborhood, or the public. 

11. Allowing property to degrade to such an extent as to create a safety, 
environmental or health hazard to those residing therein or to the surrounding 
community. 

B. A safety violation shall be deemed to have originated from a property when it 
occurs at the property, or the safety violation is verifiable and has occurred within one 
hundred feet of the property.  

9.28.080 - Safety violations prohibited.  

A. It is hereby declared a violation of this chapter for a property owner with actual or 
constructive knowledge, whether through the owner or owner's agent, lessee, sub-lessor, 
sub-lessee, or occupant, to allow, permit or fail to prevent a safety violation to occur on 
the real property of the owner.  

B. It is hereby declared a violation of this chapter for a tenant to allow, permit or fail 
to prevent a safety violation to occur on the real property where he/she resides.  

9.28.090 - Notice of safety violation.  

A. After the chief of police determines four or more verifiable safety violations have 
occurred within any twelve-month period, the chief of police has the authority to issue a 
written notice of safety violation to the owner of the property and the tenant. The notice 
of safety violation shall be served upon the owner of said property by regular mail, to the 
mailing address indicated on the last equalized assessment roll of the Nevada County 
Assessor's Office. The notice of violation shall be sent to the tenant by regular mail 
addressed to the property, or alternatively posted at the property. The service of a notice 
of violation, as provided in this section, shall be prima facie evidence that the owner or 
tenant is the person in control of the property and has knowledge of and the conduct or 
behavior at the property.  

B. The notice of safety violation shall include, but not be limited to, the following 
information:  

1. The property where the safety violation occurred, including the tenant's name 
where known;  

2. The evidence of the safety violations occurring on the property and the sections 
of the Municipal Code being violated;  

3. The dates of previous verifiable safety violations and any prior responses by the 
police department to reports of nuisance or safety violations on the property.  

C. The notice shall set forth a reasonable time limit not to exceed thirty days for 
correcting the safety violation and nuisance and may also set forth:  

161



 

 

  Page 6 

1. Suggested methods of correction or abatement, including information regarding 
meeting with the police department and potential methods of correction which 
may include, but are not limited to, the following:  

a. Provision of additional interior or exterior lighting; 

b. The posting of security personnel on the property; 

c. Installation of appropriate fencing; 

d. Posting of signs on the property, and provisions in rental applications and 
agreements, which state that illegal use of controlled substances and other 
nuisance-creating behaviors on the property shall be grounds for eviction;  

e. Directing that the property be managed in a manner consistent with federal, 
state or local law;  

f. Hiring of a competent resident manager who has experience, education and 
training in rental property management;  

g. Posting a sign on the property setting forth the name, address and daytime 
and evening telephone numbers of the owner or of a local property manager 
who is authorized to make decisions relating to management of the property;  

h. Obtaining education and training in rental property management; 

i. Implementation of a property management program including elements such 
as effective applicant screening, appropriate rental agreements, and 
appropriate use of eviction procedures;  

j. Removal of graffiti; and 

2. Notice that administrative penalties and/or administrative costs will be assessed 
against the responsible person in the event there are further safety violations.  

D. The chief of police may grant an extension of time to correct and address a safety 
violation if, in his/her opinion, good cause for an extension exists. Indicia of good faith 
may include prompt responses to city communications and requests, active professional 
property management, and other steps taken to remedy the conditions contributing to the 
safety violation(s).  

9.28.100 - Notice of administrative citation.  

A. If the chief of police determines that a subsequent verifiable safety violation exists 
after the thirty-day period for remedying the safety violation that led to the notice of safety 
violation, or any extension thereof or that a verifiable safety violation has recurred within 
twelve months of a notice of safety violation, the chief of police may impose an 
administrative citation. In the event administrative citations or costs are imposed by the 
chief of police, the property owner and/or tenant shall be notified in writing of the amount 
of the administrative citation imposed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this 
chapter, and this code.  

B. In addition to imposing administrative citations or costs, the chief of police or his 
authorized designee may issue a notice of safety violation.  

162



 

 

  Page 7 

9.28.110 - Right to a hearing.  

A. The property owner may appeal citations issued pursuant to this chapter, pursuant 
to the procedures set forth in Chapter 1.22 of this code.  

B. The hearing shall be scheduled and conducted pursuant to Chapter 1.22 of the 
this code.  

 

9.28.120 - Safety violation enforcement and fines.  

A. A failure to cure the safety violations in violation of this chapter, or additional safety 
violations after receipt of a notice of violation may result in either or both of the following 
actions and/or fines:  

1. Issuance of administrative citation(s) and/or an order to abate the safety 
violation(s) with a fine for each and every safety violation not to exceed one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for each violation, plus any administrative expenses 
incurred in the enforcement of this chapter. Each day the safety violation(s) 
continue shall be deemed a new violation subject to additional citations and fines.  

2. Institution of a civil action by the city attorney pursuant to Health and Safety Code 
Section 11570, et seq., and Penal Code Sections 186.22a or 11225, et seq., for 
injunctive relief, closure of the property for up to one year, and civil penalties in 
an amount not to exceed twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), which shall 
constitute a lien on the property. In any civil action brought pursuant to this 
chapter, the court may award reasonable attorney fees and costs to the prevailing 
party.  

B. Fines will not be enforced, nor will civil action be commenced, if the chief of police 
determines that the owner is making a good faith effort to abate the safety violation(s).  

C. When a notice of safety violation or administrative citation have been issued, the 
owner of the property and any tenant shall be jointly and severally responsible for each 
successive safety violation incident occurring on the property and shall be jointly, 
severally and individually responsible for payment of any and all costs associated with 
each successive safety violation.  

D. The property owner and/or tenant may appeal administrative citations issued 
pursuant to this chapter by following the procedures set forth in Chapter 1.22 of this code.  

9.28.130 - Property owner notification program.  

A. Property owners in the city may apply with the police department for notification 
when the Nevada City Police Department responds to a response call, verifiable safety 
violation, or other incident at a property. The owner will need to provide proof of ownership 
of the property at the time of enrolling in the property owner notification program. Property 
owners enrolled in the program have a duty to notify the police department upon change 
of ownership of the property.  

163



 

 

  Page 8 

B. By establishing a property owner notification program, the city in no way 
guarantees that an owner will receive notification each time the police department 
responds to the property; instead, this enrollment is voluntary and a courtesy to the 
property owners.  

C. The police chief shall be responsible for administering the program, and may 
establish rules, procedures and an application in order to carry out this program.  

164



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL  
 
 

December 14 , 2016 

City of Nevada City 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 
www.nevadacityca.gov 

 

 

TITLE:  An Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Amending Chapter 5.28 of the Nevada 
City Municipal Code Pertaining to Cable Systems and State Video Franchises 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. Waive reading of Ordinance, read title only and introduce for first reading. 

CONTACT:  Hal DeGraw, City Attorney 

BACKGROUND:  Chapter 5.28, establishing procedures and regulations for granting 
franchises for cable systems and open video systems, was adopted in 2004 when those 
franchises to cable companies were being issued by local governmental entities.  In June of 
2006, the County collectively negotiated with Comcast to become a cable television provider 
in Nevada County resulting in 10-year franchises to provide cable services for Nevada City, 
Grass Valley and most of western Nevada County. 

Subsequent to the County entering into those franchise agreements, the California 
legislature enacted the Digital infrastructure and Video Competition Act of 2006 (DIVCA).  
Under DIVCA, the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), rather than local 
governments, became the sole franchising authority for cable service providers in California. 
At the June 27, 2016, expiration of the County’s cable franchises with Comcast, those 
franchises converted to State franchises to be administered by the CPUC. 

Although the transition was virtually seamless, the new State franchising procedure 
rendered county and city ordinances premised upon local issuance of franchises for cable 
systems and open video systems obsolete and in need of amendment to reflect the new 
franchising procedures under DIVCA. In July, the County extensively revised its ordinance 
to implement DIVCA and it has advised the cities to do so as well.      

DISCUSSION: The proposed City Ordinance parallels the County changes in implementing 
DIVCA, totally repealing the section on applications to the city for open video systems 
because that procedure is no longer available under DIVCA.  We have worked closely with 
County Counsel’s office to coordinate our efforts. 

There are two ongoing financial benefits that accrue to local government from the cable 
franchises that make it important to amend our cable systems ordinance.  First, the cable 
companies pay franchise fees equaling 5% of their gross revenues as unrestricted revenue 
to the general fund of local governments.  The County ordinance amendment addresses 
imposing and collecting those fees in the unincorporated area. Nevada City needs to amend 
its ordinance so that it can collect franchise fees at the same rate within its City boundaries.  
Second, the cable providers collect from their customers and remit a fee to support the four 
Public, Educational and Government (PEG) access channels with funds for facilities and 
equipment. These PEG fees were set in Nevada County at the rate of $0.60 per subscriber 
per month.  Under DIVCA, local entities that have been receiving PEG fees may, by 
ordinance, establish a PEG fee based upon gross revenues that is no greater than the fee 
previously imposed.  The PEG fee of 1.4% of gross revenues imposed in the County 
amendment and in the proposed City ordinance amendment reflects the PEG fees earned 
at the per customer rate plus grants received by the County and cities. In the past, these 
fees collected in the City have been part of the PEG fees transferred to NCTV for their 

165



operations. The County is contemplating a new arrangement and will be contacting the cities 
in this regard   

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  In order to continue receiving franchise fees for cable 
systems operating within the City, Nevada City needs to amend its ordinance to impose that 
fee.   

166



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-XX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY REPEALING AND 
 RE-ADOPTING AS AMENDED CHAPTER 5.28 OF THE 

 NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE REGULATING CABLE SYSTEMS 
 AND OPEN VIDEO SYSTEMS TO IMPLEMENT THE STATE 

 DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE AND VIDEO COMPETITION ACT OF 2006 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 5.28 of the Nevada City Municipal Code regulated cable 
systems and open video systems at a time when franchises for cable television 
providers were issued and regulated locally; and 
 
WHEREAS, the California legislature subsequently enacted the Digital 
Infrastructure and Video Competition Act of 2006 (DIVCA) making the California 
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) the sole franchising authority and converting 
local franchises to State franchises upon expiration on June 27, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the City to revise its Municipal Code provisions 
relating to Cable Systems and Open Video Systems to reflect and implement the 
revised franchising regulations to continue receiving franchise fees and public 
education and government (PEG) fees, and to delete superseded provisions 
reflecting regulations related to locally issued franchises and open video 
systems.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Nevada 
City as follows: 
 
SECTION I: 
 
Chapter 5.28 Cable Systems and Open Video Systems, together with 
Appendices A and B, are hereby revoked and repealed, being replaced by the 
updated amended provisions adopted by this Ordinance. 
  
 
SECTION II:  
 
There is hereby added to the Nevada City Municipal Code a new updated 
Chapter 5.28 Cable Systems and State Video Service Franchises amended to 
read as set forth in Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and incorporated by such 
reference. 
 
SECTION III: 
 
It is the intent of the City Council of the City of Nevada City to supplement 
applicable state and federal law and not to duplicate or contradict such law and 
this ordinance shall be construed consistently with that intention. If any section, 

167



subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance, 
or its application to any person or circumstance, is for any reason held to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the 
validity or enforceability of the remaining sections, subsections, subdivisions, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of this Ordinance, or its application to 
any other entity or circumstance. The City Council of the City of Nevada City 
hereby declares that it would have adopted each section, subsection, 
subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase hereof, irrespective of the 
fact that any one or more other sections, subsections, subdivisions, paragraphs, 
sentences, clauses or phrases hereof be declared invalid or unenforceable. 
 
SECTION IV: 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after the adoption date 
thereof and within fifteen (15) days of the passage of this Ordinance, the City 
Clerk shall publish this Ordinance in The Union, a newspaper of general 
circulation. 
 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of _______, 2016 by the following 
vote: 
 
AYES:   
 
NOES:   
 
ABSTAIN:  
 
ABSENT:  

           
  _________________________________ 

      Evans Phelps, Mayor 
ATTEST:___________________ 
               Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 

168



 

 

  Page 1 

Chapter 5.28 

CABLE SYSTEMS AND STATE VIDEO SERVICE FRANCHISES 

Sections:  

 5.28.005 Definitions. 

5.28.010 General. 

 5.28.020 Special rules applicable to state video service franchises. 

 5.28.030 Repealed. 

 5.28.040 Miscellaneous. 

 

5.28.010 - Definitions.  

For the purposes of this chapter, the following terms, phrases, words, and abbreviations shall have 

the meanings given herein. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense 

include the future tense; words in the plural number include the singular number; and words in the 

singular number include the plural number; and the masculine gender includes the feminine gender. The 

words "shall" and "will" are mandatory, and "may" is permissive. Words not defined in this chapter shall 

have the same meaning as in Title 47 of the United States Code (Sections 521 et seq.), and, if not defined 

therein, the California Public Utilities Code (CPUC) Sections 5800-5970, and if not defined therein, their 

common and ordinary meaning. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present 

tense include the future, words in the plural number include the singular number, words in the singular 

number include the plural number, and “including” and “include “ are not limiting.  The words “shall” 

and “will” are mandatory, but use of those terms grants no private rights to any person with respect to 

the County or City.  References to governmental entities or officials, whether persons or entities, refer 

to those entities or their successors in authority. If specific provisions of law referred to in this chapter 

are renumbered, then the reference shall be read to refer to the renumbered provision. References to 

laws, ordinances or regulations shall be interpreted broadly to cover government actions, however 

nominated, and include laws, ordinances and regulations now in force or hereinafter enacted or 

amended.  

"Access," "PEG access," or "PEG use" means the availability of a cable system or open video system 
for public, education or government use (including institutional network use) by various agencies, 
institutions, organizations, groups, and individuals, including city of Nevada City and its designated access 
providers, to acquire, create, and distribute programming not under a franchisee's editorial control, 
including, but not limited to:  

1. "Public access" or "public use" means access where organizations, groups, or individual 
members of the general public, on a non-discriminatory basis, are the primary or designated 
programmers or users having editorial control over their communications;  

2. "Education access" or "education use" means access where accredited educational institutions 
are the primary or designated programmers or users having editorial control over their 
communications;  

169



 

 

  Page 2 

3. "Government access" or "government use" means access where government institutions or their 
designees are the primary or designated programmers or users having editorial control over their 
communications.  

"Affiliate" means a person that (directly or indirectly) owns or controls, is owned or controlled by, or is 
under common ownership or control with, another person.  

"Basic service" means any service tier regularly provided to all subscribers which includes the 
retransmission of local television broadcast signals.  

"Cable Act" means the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, 47 U.S.C. Sections 521 et seq., as 
amended by the Cable Television Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992, as further amended 
by the Telecommunications Act of 1996, as further amended from time to time.  

"Cable communications system" refers to cable system.  

"Cable service" means:  

1. The one (1) way transmission to subscribers of (a) video programming, or (b) other programming 
service; and  

2. Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required for the selection or use of such video programming 
or other programming service.  

"Cable system" is defined as set forth in Section 522(7) of Title 47 of the United States Code.  

"Channel" means a portion of the electromagnetic frequency spectrum which is used in a cable system 
and which is capable of delivering a television signal whether in an analog or digital format. The definition 
does not restrict the use of any channel to the transmission of analog television signals or one (1) way 
transmission.  

"City" means the city of Nevada City and all departments, divisions, and agencies established by state 
law or by the city of Nevada City Municipal Code.  

"City manager" means the city of Nevada City executive officer or his/her designee.  

"Construction, operation or repair" and similar formulations of that term means the named actions 
interpreted broadly, encompassing, among other things, installation, extension, maintenance, replacement 
of components, relocation, undergrounding, grading, site preparation, adjusting, testing, make-ready, and 
excavation. 

“County” means the County of Nevada and all departments, divisions, and agencies established by 
state law or by the Nevada County General Code. 

“CPUC” refers to the California Public Utilities Code. 

"Downstream channel" means a channel designed and activated to carry a transmission from the 
headend to other points on a cable communications system, including interconnections.  

"FCC" means the Federal Communications Commission.  

"Franchise" means an initial authorization, or renewal of an authorization, issued by a franchising 
entity, regardless of whether the authorization is designated as a franchise, permit, license, resolution, 
contract, certificate, agreement, or otherwise, that authorizes the construction and operation of any network 
in the right-of-way capable of providing video service to subscribers, as defined in CPUC 5830(f).  

"Franchise area" means the area of the city of Nevada City that a franchisee is authorized to serve by 
the terms of its franchise or by operation of law.  

"Franchisee" means a person holding a cable communications system franchise. 

“Franchise Fee” means the fee adopted pursuant to CPUC Section 5840 paid in consideration of the 
grant and exercise of a franchise to construct, install, operate, or provide cable system services. 

170



 

 

  Page 3 

"Gross revenues" means all revenue actually received by the holder of a state franchise as defined in 
CPUC Section 5860(d). "License" means the legal authorization, terminable at will, to use a particular, 
discrete, and limited portion of the public rights-of-way to construct, operate, or repair a cable system.  

“Nevada County Administrator” means the Nevada County Executive Officer or his/her designee. 

"Operator," when used with reference to a system, means a person:  

1. Who directly or through one (1) or more affiliates provides service over a cable communications 
system and directly or through one (1) or more affiliates owns a significant interest in such facility; 
or  

2. Who otherwise controls or is responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and 
operation of such a facility.  

“OVS” means an open video system previously provided for pursuant to Section 5.28.030. 

"Person" means and includes any individual, corporation, partnership, association, joint stock 
company, trust, or any other legal entity, but not Nevada County nor the city of Nevada City.  

"Public property" means any property that is owned or under the control of the city of Nevada City that 
is not a public right-of-way, including, for purposes of this chapter, but not limited to, buildings, parks, poles, 
structures in the public rights-of-way such as utility poles and light poles, or similar facilities or property 
owned by or leased to the city of Nevada City.  

"Public rights-of-way" means the surface of and the space above and below any street, road, highway, 
freeway, bridge, lane, path, alley, court, sidewalk, parkway, drive, or right-of-way or easement primarily 
dedicated to travel, now or hereafter existing, within the city of Nevada City which may be properly used for 
the purpose of installing, maintaining, and operating a cable communications system; and any other 
property that a franchisee is entitled by state or federal law to use by virtue of the grant of a franchise.  

"Revocation" means Nevada County’s or the city of Nevada City's affirmative act of terminating a 
franchise.  

"School" means any accredited primary school, secondary school, college, and university.  

"Subscriber" means Nevada County or the city of Nevada City or any person who is lawfully receiving, 
for any purpose or reason, any cable service via a cable communications system with franchisee's express 
permission, whether or not a fee is paid for such service.  

"Termination" means the conclusion of a franchise by any means, including, but not limited to, by 
expiration of its term, abandonment, or revocation.  

"Transfer" means any transaction in which:  

1. All or a portion of any facilities or any rights to use or operate facilities located in the public rights-
of-way are sold, conveyed, transferred, assigned, encumbered or leased, in whole or in part, 
directly or indirectly, by one (1) or more transactions to another person, whether voluntarily or by 
operation of law or otherwise; or  

2. There is any change, acquisition, or transfer in the identity of the person in control of the 
franchisee, or any person that controls the franchisee, including, without limitation, forced or 
voluntary sale, merger, consolidation, or receivership; or  

3. The rights or obligations under the franchise are sold, conveyed, transferred, assigned, 
encumbered or leased, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by one (1) or more transactions 
to another person, whether voluntarily or by operation of law or otherwise.  

"Unaffiliated video programming provider" or "UVPP" means any person who uses capacity on a 
franchised cable system to deliver cable service or other communications service (as that term is used in 
47 U.S.C. Section 542(h)) to subscribers and who is not an affiliate of the franchisee.  

"Upstream channel" means a channel designed and activated to carry transmissions from a point on 
the cable system, other than the headend, to the headend or another point on the cable system.  

171



 

 

  Page 4 

"User" means a person or the city of Nevada City utilizing a channel, capacity or equipment and 
facilities for purposes of producing or transmitting video, voice and data materials contrasted with receiving 
it in the capacity of a subscriber.  

5.28.010 - General 

A. Franchise Required. No person may construct or operate a cable communications system in the city 
of Nevada City without first obtaining a franchise; provided that the following shall not be required to 
obtain a franchise under this chapter:  

1. Nevada County or the city of Nevada City; or 

2. A UVPP that is only delivering cable service or other communications service (as that term is 
used in 47 U.S.C. Section 542(h)) to subscribers.  

B. Possessory Interest of Public Property. A franchise granted pursuant to Article 2 of the Nevada County 
General Code or this chapter shall notify the franchisee of potential tax liability for property taxes 
pursuant to California Revenue and Tax Code Section 107.6.  

C. Failure to Obtain a Franchise. Consistent with the requirements of due process, a person's failure to 
obtain a franchise as required by this chapter may, in the City's discretion, result in:  

1. Forfeiture, by operation of law, of the person's facilities located in the public rights-of-way that are 
not authorized by an existing franchise; and/or  

2. A City or County order and/or court order that the facilities be removed, and that penalties and 
damages be paid as set forth in the County General Code or in state law.  

D. Existing Franchises. Franchisees existing as of the effective date of the ordinance codified in this 
chapter shall, in addition to all the obligations and duties prescribed by the terms of their existing 
franchises, be subject to the substantive and procedural requirements herein, except as prohibited by 
applicable law. Nothing in this chapter is intended to invalidate a lawful, existing franchise or to waive 
any obligations imposed by such a franchise.  

E. Administration of Chapter; Adoption of Regulations. 

1. Adoption of Regulations. The city of Nevada City may from time to time adopt regulations to 
implement the provisions of this chapter.  

2. Delegation. The city manager or its designees are hereby authorized to administer the provisions 
of this chapter and any franchise issued to operate within the incorporated area of the city of 
Nevada City, and to provide any notices (including noncompliance notices) and to take any action 
on the city of Nevada City's behalf that may be required under this chapter or under applicable 
law.  

3. No Waiver. The failure of Nevada County or the city of Nevada City, upon one (1) or more 
occasions, to exercise a right or to require compliance or performance under a franchise or any 
other applicable law shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of such right or a waiver of 
compliance or performance, unless such right has been specifically waived in writing.  

4. Administration of Public, Educational and Government Access. Nevada County may designate 
one (1) or more entities, including itself and/or the city of Nevada City, to control and manage the 
use of public, educational and government access channels, facilities and equipment.  

F. General Conditions upon Construction, Operation and Repair. 

1. Franchisee Must Follow Local Rules. The construction, operation, and repair of cable 
communications systems shall be performed in compliance with all laws, ordinances, 
departmental rules, regulations, and practices affecting such system. By way of example, and not 
limitation, this includes zoning and safety codes, construction standards, regulations for providing 
notice to persons that may be affected by system construction, and directives governing the time, 
place and manner in which facilities may be installed in the rights-of-way. Persons engaged in 
the construction, operation, or repair of communications facilities shall exercise reasonable care 

172



 

 

  Page 5 

in the performance of all their activities and shall use commonly accepted methods and devices 
for preventing failures and accidents that are likely to cause damage, injury, or nuisance to the 
public or to property.  

2. No Permit without Franchise. A franchise is required before a permit may be issued for work 
associated with the construction of a cable communications system. Any permit issued for such 
work to a person that does not hold a franchise shall vest no rights in the permittee; the permit 
may be revoked at will, and the permittee shall remove all facilities installed under the permit upon 
the city of Nevada City's demand.  

3. Permits Must be Obtained. Construction, operation, or repair of a cable communications system 
in the city of Nevada City shall not commence until all required permits have been obtained from 
the proper city of Nevada City officials and all required fees have been paid. All work performed 
will be performed in strict accordance with the conditions of the permit. Upon order of the city of 
Nevada City, any work and/or construction undertaken that is not completed in compliance with 
the city of Nevada City's requirements, or which is installed without obtaining necessary permits 
and approvals shall be removed.  

4. No Interference. Interference with the use of the public rights-of-way by others, including others 
that may be installing cable communications systems, must be minimized. The city of Nevada 
City may require a person using the rights-of-way to cooperate with others through joint trenching 
and other arrangements to minimize adverse impacts on the rights-of-way.  

5. Plans for and Publicizing Work. Work shall be publicized as the city of Nevada City may direct 
from time to time. The publication of work may be used to notify the public and operators of other 
communications systems, of the impending work, in order to minimize inconvenience and 
disruption to the public.  

a. Each franchisee shall provide the city of Nevada City a plan for any initial system 
construction, or for any substantial rebuild, upgrade or extension of its facility, which shall 
show its timetable for construction of each phase of the project, and the areas of the city that 
will be affected.  

b. The city City manager may from time to time, when the city City receives an application for 
a permit to use a particular route, or upon the city City manager's own initiative, designate 
by published order a route or proposed route for installation of communications facilities and 
may (i) require all persons who wish to emplace underground facilities along that route or 
any part thereof to install them during a specified period, provided all costs are shared 
equitably and (ii) otherwise prohibit initial emplacement of such facilities along the route or 
any part thereof for twenty-four (24) months or after such other longer period as is necessary 
to protect the public interest.  

6. Existing Poles to be Used. To the extent possible, operators of cable communications systems 
shall use existing poles and conduit. Additional poles may not be installed in the right-of-way; nor 
may pole capacity be increased by vertical or horizontal extenders, without the permission of the 
city manager.  

To minimize disruption of public passage or infrastructure, to forestall or relieve exhaustion of 
rights-of-way capacity, or to protect environmentally sensitive areas, the city City manager may 
require as a condition of issuing any rights-of-way permit for erection of new poles or construction 
of underground conduit, the installation of which requires excavation of or along any traveled way 
that the franchisee, licensee, or holder of the rights-of-way permit provide pole space or empty 
conduits in excess of its own present and reasonably foreseeable requirements for the purpose 
of accommodating the city and/or other franchisees and licensees.  

7. Undergrounding. 

a. Whenever all existing utilities are located underground in an area in the city of Nevada City, 
every cable communications system operator in the same area must locate its cable 
communications system underground.  

173



 

 

  Page 6 

b. Whenever the owner of a pole locates or relocates underground within an area of the city of 
Nevada City, every cable communications system operator in the same area shall 
concurrently relocate its facilities underground.  

c. The City may, for good cause shown, exempt a particular system or facility or group of 
facilities from the obligation to locate or relocate facilities underground, where relocation is 
impractical, or where the city City and the subscriber's interest can be protected in another 
manner. Nothing in subsection (F)(7)(a) of this section prevents the city of Nevada City from 
ordering communications facilities to be located or relocated underground.  

8. Prompt Repairs. Any and all public rights-of-way, other public property, or private property that is 
disturbed or damaged during the construction, operation, maintenance or repair of a cable 
communications system shall be promptly repaired by the operator. Public property and public 
rights-of-way must be restored to the satisfaction of the city of Nevada City or to a condition as 
good or better than before the disturbance or damage occurred.  

9. Movement of Facilities for Government. 

a. A cable communications system operator shall, by a time specified by the city of Nevada 
City, protect, support, temporarily disconnect, relocate, or remove any of its property when 
required by the city of Nevada City by reason of traffic conditions; public safety; public right-
of-way construction and repair (including regrading, resurfacing or widening); public right-of-
way vacation; construction, installation or repair of sewers, drains, water pipes, power lines, 
signal lines, tracks, or any other type of government-owned system or utility, public work, 
public facility, or improvement; or for any other purpose where the work involved would be 
aided by the removal or relocation of the cable communications system. Collectively, such 
matters are referred to below as the "public work."  

b. Except in the case of emergency, the city of Nevada City shall provide written notice 
describing where the public work is to be performed at least one (1) week prior to the 
deadline by which a cable communications system operator must protect, support, 
temporarily disconnect, relocate or remove its facilities. However, in an emergency, or where 
a cable communications system creates or is contributing to an imminent danger to health, 
safety, or property, the city of Nevada City may protect, support, temporarily disconnect, 
remove, or relocate any or all parts of the cable communications system without prior notice, 
and charge the cable communications system operator for costs incurred.  

10. Movement for Others. 

a. To accommodate the construction, operation, or repair of the facilities of another person 
authorized to use the streets or public property, a franchisee shall, by a time specified by 
such person, protect, support, temporarily disconnect, relocate or remove its facilities. The 
franchisee must be given written notice describing where the construction, operation or 
repair is to be performed at least fifteen (15) days prior to the time by which its work must be 
completed. The city of Nevada City may resolve disputes as to responsibility for costs 
associated with removal, relaying, or relocation of facilities among entities authorized to 
install facilities in the streets or on public property if such entities are unable to do so 
themselves.  

b. A cable communications system operator shall, on the request of any person holding a valid 
permit issued by a governmental authority, temporarily raise or lower its wires by a time 
specified to permit the moving of buildings or other objects. A cable communications system 
operator shall be given not less than seven (7) days' advance notice to arrange for such 
temporary wire changes. The expense of such temporary removal or raising or lowering of 
wires shall be paid by the person requesting the same.  

11. Abandonment in Place. 

a. A cable communications system operator may abandon any property in place in the public 
rights-of-way upon written notice to the city of Nevada City. However, if, within ninety (90) 

174



 

 

  Page 7 

days of the receipt of written notice of abandonment, the city of Nevada City determines that 
the safety, appearance, functioning or use of the public rights-of-way and facilities in the 
public rights-of-way will be adversely affected, the property must be removed by a date 
specified by the city of Nevada City.  

b. A cable communications system operator that abandons its property must, upon request, 
transfer ownership of the properties to the city of Nevada City at no cost, and execute 
necessary quitclaim deeds and indemnify the city of Nevada City against future costs 
associated with mitigating or eliminating any environmental hazard associated with the 
abandoned property.  

12. System Subject to Inspection. Every cable communications system shall be subject to inspection 
and testing by the city of Nevada City. Each operator must respond to requests for information 
regarding its system and plans for the system as the city of Nevada City may from time to time 
issue, including requests for information regarding its plans for construction, operation and repair 
and the purposes for which the plant is being constructed, operated, or repaired.  

13. Underground Services Alert. Each operator of a cable communications system that places 
facilities underground shall be a member of the regional notification center for subsurface 
installations (underground services alert) and shall field mark the locations of its underground 
communications facilities upon request. The operator shall locate its facilities for the city of 
Nevada City at no charge.  

14. Plan for Construction. Every franchise shall specify for the city of Nevada City a construction 
schedule that will apply to any required construction, upgrade, or rebuild of the cable 
communications system. The schedule shall provide for the prompt completion of the project, 
shall show its timetable for construction of each phase of the project, with benchmarks for 
deliverables and the areas of the city of Nevada City that will be affected. The city of Nevada City 
shall have the right to impose penalties on the operator for a failure to meet the accepted timetable 
and benchmarks.  

15. Use of facilities by the city of Nevada City. The city of Nevada City shall have the right to install 
and maintain, free of charge, upon any poles or in any conduit owned by a franchisee any wire 
and pole fixtures that do not unreasonably interfere with the cable service operations of the 
franchisee.  

G. Protection of City of Nevada City and Residents. 

1. Indemnity Required. No franchise permit issued for work associated with construction of a cable 
communications system shall be valid or effective until and unless the city of Nevada City obtains 
an adequate indemnity from the franchisee. The indemnity must:  

a. Release the city of Nevada City from and against any and all liability and responsibility in or 
arising out of the construction, operation or maintenance of the cable communications 
system. Each cable communications system operator must further agree not to sue or seek 
any money or damages from the city of Nevada City in connection with the above-mentioned 
matters; and 

b. Indemnify and hold harmless the city of Nevada City, its trustees, elected and appointed 
officers, agents, and employees, from and against any and all claims, demands, or causes 
of action of any kind or nature, and the resulting losses, costs, expenses, reasonable 
attorneys' fees, liabilities, damages, orders, judgments, or decrees sustained by the city of 
Nevada City or any third party arising out of, or by reason of, or resulting from or of the acts, 
errors, or omissions of the cable communications system operator, or its agents, 
independent contractors or employees related to or in any way arising out of the construction, 
operation or repair of the system; .  

c. Provide that the covenant and representations relating to the indemnification provision shall 
survive the term of the franchise or other authorization and continue in full force and effect 
as to the party's responsibility to indemnify.  

175



 

 

  Page 8 

2. Insurance Required. A franchisee (or those acting on its behalf) shall not commence construction 
or operation of the system without obtaining insurance in amounts and of a type satisfactory to 
the city of Nevada City. The required insurance must be obtained and maintained for the entire 
period the franchisee has facilities in the rights-of-way. If the franchisee, its contractors, or 
subcontractors do not have the required insurance, the city of Nevada City may order such entities 
to stop operations until the insurance is obtained and approved.  

3. Proof. Certificates and endorsements of insurance, reflecting evidence of the required insurance 
and naming the city of Nevada City as an additional insured, and other proofs as the city of 
Nevada City may find necessary, shall be issued to the city of Nevada City. For persons issued 
franchises after the effective date of the ordinance codified in this chapter, certificates and other 
required proofs shall be filed within thirty (30) days of the issuance of a franchise, prior to the 
commencement of construction, at policy renewal, and whenever there is any change in 
coverage. For entities that have facilities in the public rights-of-way as of the effective date of this 
chapter, the certificate and endorsements shall be issued within sixty (60) days of the effective 
date of this chapter, at policy renewal, and whenever there is any change in coverage, unless a 
pre-existing franchise provides for filing of certificates in a different manner. In the event that the 
insurance will terminate or lapse during the term of the franchise or license, then in that event, 
the cable communications system operator shall furnish, at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
expiration of such insurance, a new or renewed certificate of insurance as proof that the required 
coverage has been obtained.  

4. Endorsement Contents. Endorsements shall contain a provision that coverages afforded under 
these policies will not be canceled, modified, suspended or non-renewed unless at least thirty 
(30) days' prior written notice has been given to the city of Nevada City. Endorsements shall name 
the city of Nevada City and its officers, employees, agents and volunteers as additional insureds 
and shall specify that the franchisee's policy is primary, the city of Nevada City's insurance is 
excess and non-contributing and shall contain a cross-liability clause. The endorsement shall also 
declare its "SIR" or deductibles, which amounts must be acceptable to the city of Nevada City. 
Policies shall be issued by companies authorized to do business under the laws of the state of 
California. Financial ratings must be no less than "A VII" in the latest edition of "Bests Key Rating 
Guide", published by A.M. Best Guide, or as otherwise approved by the city administrator.  

5. Insurance Amounts. A cable communications system operator (and those acting on its behalf to 
construct or operate the system) shall maintain the following minimum insurance. The city of 
Nevada City shall be named as an additional insured on the general liability and automotive 
policies; those insurance policies shall be primary and contain a cross-liability clause.  

a. Comprehensive general liability insurance to cover bodily injury, death, and property 
damage. Exposures to be covered are: premises, operations, products/completed 
operations, and certain contracts. Coverage must be written on an occurrence basis, with 
the following limits of liability:  

Bodily Injury 
 

 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

 Annual Aggregate $3,000,000 

Property Damage 
 

 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

176



 

 

  Page 9 

 Annual Aggregate $3,000,000 

Personal Injury 
 

 Annual Aggregate $3,000,000 

  

Completed operations and products liability shall be maintained for two (2) years after the 
termination of the franchise or license (in the case of the cable communications system 
owner or operator) or completion of the work for the cable communications system owner or 
operator (in the case of a contractor or subcontractor).  

Property damage liability insurance shall include coverage for the following hazards: X - 
explosion, C - collapse, U - underground.  

b. Workers' compensation insurance shall be maintained during the life of this contract to 
comply with statutory limits for all employees, and in the case any work is sublet, each cable 
communications system operator shall require the subcontractors similarly to provide 
workers' compensation insurance for all the latter's employees unless such employees are 
covered by the protection afforded by each cable communications system operator. Each 
cable communications system operator and its contractors and subcontractors shall maintain 
during the life of this policy employers' liability insurance. The following minimum limits must 
be maintained:  

Workers' Compensation Statutory Limits 

Employer's Liability $1,000,000 per occurrence 

  

c. Comprehensive Auto Liability. 

Bodily Injury 
 

 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

 Annual Aggregate $3,000,000 

Property Damage 
 

 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

 Annual Aggregate $3,000,000 

177



 

 

  Page 10 

  

Coverage shall include owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles. In every franchise or 
license agreement, the city of Nevada City shall reserve the right to require any other 
insurance coverage it deems necessary depending upon exposures.  

62. Construction Bonds. Every operator of afranchisee constructing a cable communications system 
within the city of Nevada City for which a permit is required shall obtain and maintain bonds during 
periods of rebuild or upgrade ofconstructing the cable system to ensure the faithful performance 
of its responsibilities under this chapter and any franchise. The amount of the performance and 
payment bonds shall be set by the city City manager, but shall not be less than ten (10) percent 
of the estimated cost of constructing or (in the case of existing systems) upgrading the system, 
and including a sufficient amount to cover the removal of facilities and/or restoration of city 
facilities within the right-of-way. The bond is not in lieu of any additional bonds that may be 
required through the permitting process. The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the city 
attorney. Bonds must be obtained prior to the effective date of any franchise, transfer or franchise 
renewalpermit, unless the city City manager specifically provides otherwise.  

7. Security Fund. Every cable communications system operator shall establish and maintain a cash 
security fund or provide the city of Nevada City an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of one 
hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) to secure the payment of fees owed, to secure any other 
performance promised in a franchise, and to pay any taxes, fees or liens owed to the city of 
Nevada City. The letter of credit shall be in a form and with an institution acceptable to the city of 
Nevada City's city manager and in a form acceptable to the city attorney. Should the city of 
Nevada City draw upon the cash security fund or letter of credit, the cable communications system 
operator shall, within fourteen (14) days, restore the fund or the letter of credit to the full required 
amount. This security fund/letter of credit may be waived or reduced by the city of Nevada City 
for a franchisee where the city of Nevada City determines in its discretion that a particular 
franchisee's operations are sufficiently limited that a security fund/letter of credit is not necessary 
to secure the required performance. The city of Nevada City may from time to time require a 
franchisee to change the amount of the required security fund/letter of credit to reflect changed 
risks to the city of Nevada City and to the public, including delinquencies in taxes or other 
payments to the city. The cash security fund or letter of credit must be obtained prior to the 
effective date of any franchise, license, transfer or franchise renewal, unless a franchise 
specifically provides otherwise.  

H. Enforcement and Remedies. 

1. Franchise Violation—Notice and Procedures. Before revoking a franchise or issuing an order to 
assess liquidated damages, the city of Nevada City shall follow the procedures set forth below:  

a. The city of Nevada City shall notify a cable communications system operator in writing of 
any alleged violation ("violation notice") of a franchise or this chapter. The violation notice 
shall:  

i. Identify the violation; 

ii. Direct the cable communications system operator to cure the violation or show cause 
why the violation cannot or should not be cured; and  

iii. State the time for the cable communications system operator's response, which shall 
be at minimum thirty (30) days from the date of issuance of the violation notice, except 
for violations that present a danger to public health, safety or welfare, in which case the 
time for response may be shortened.  

b. Within the time period designated for response, the cable communications system operator 
shall respond in writing to the city of Nevada City indicating that:  

i. The cable communications system operator intends to contest the violation notice and 
describing all facts relevant to its claim; or  

178



 

 

  Page 11 

ii. The cable communications system operator has completely cured the violation, in which 
case the cable communications system operator shall provide documentation 
demonstrating that the violation has been completely cured; or  

iii. The cable communications system operator has begun to correct the violation; 
however, the violation cannot be corrected immediately despite the cable 
communications system operator's continued due diligence, in which case the operator 
shall describe in detail the steps already taken and operator's proposed plan and time 
schedule for completely curing the violation. Correction of the violation is not complete 
until all damages and penalties owed are paid in full.  

c. If the cable communications system operator contests the violation notice or the city of 
Nevada City determines that the cable communications system operator has failed to 
completely cure the violation, to submit an acceptable plan to cure the violation, or to work 
diligently to cure the violation, the county shall schedule a hearing before the city council 
("violation hearing"). The city of Nevada City shall provide the cable communications system 
operator written notice of the violation hearing at least twenty (20) days prior to the hearing 
("hearing notice").  

d. The hearing notice shall indicate: 

i. The time and place of the violation hearing; 

ii. The nature of the violation; and 

iii. The cable communications system operator's right to present oral and written testimony 
at an open and public meeting.  

e. At the violation hearing, the city council shall hear and consider evidence from the cable 
communications system operator, city staff and members of the public regarding the alleged 
violation. The operator shall be given an opportunity to present any and all evidence relating 
to the alleged violation.  

f. If, based upon the evidence presented at the violation hearing, the city council finds that the 
cable communications system operator has violated a franchise, the enabling ordinance 
codified in this chapter or any applicable state or federal law, the city council may issue an 
order assessing liquidated damages if provided for by the operator's franchise, or, subject to 
subsection (H)(2) of this section and the terms of the cable communications system 
operator's franchise, revoke or shorten the franchise.  

2. Revocation and Termination. The city council may revoke a franchise or reduce the term of a 
franchise if it finds, after complying with procedures set forth above, that a cable communications 
system operator has violated this chapter or its franchise or license; has defrauded or attempted 
to defraud the city of Nevada City or subscribers; or has attempted to evade the requirements of 
this chapter or its franchise or license. Except as to violations that are impossible to cure, and as 
provided in subsections (H)(3) and (4) of this section, the franchise may only be revoked if the 
franchisee:  

a. Was given notice of the default; and 

b. Thirty (30) days to cure the default; and 

c. The franchisee failed to cure the default, or to propose a schedule for curing the default 
acceptable to the city of Nevada City where it is impossible to cure the default in thirty (30) 
days.  

3. Exception for Certain Acts. No opportunity to cure is required for repeated violations, and fraud 
and attempted fraud shall be deemed incurable. Further, the city of Nevada City may declare a 
franchise forfeited without opportunity to cure where a franchisee:  

a. Voluntarily stops providing service it is required to provide; and 

b. Transfers the franchise without the prior consent of the city of Nevada City. 

179



 

 

  Page 12 

4. Exception for Bankruptcy. A franchise will terminate automatically by force of law one hundred 
twenty (120) calendar days after an assignment for the benefit of creditors or the appointment of 
a receiver or trustee to take over the business of the franchisee, whether in a receivership, 
reorganization, bankruptcy assignment for the benefit of creditors, or other action or proceeding. 
However, the franchise may be reinstated within that one hundred twenty (120) day period, if:  

a. Such assignment, receivership or trusteeship has been vacated; or 

b. Such assignee, receiver or trustee has fully complied with the terms and conditions of this 
chapter and the franchise, and has executed an agreement, approved by any court having 
jurisdiction, assuming and agreeing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this chapter 
and the franchise.  

In the event of foreclosure or other judicial sale of any of the facilities, equipment or property 
of a franchisee, the city of Nevada City may revoke the franchise following a public hearing before 
the city council by serving notice upon the franchisee and the successful bidder at the sale, in 
which event the franchise and all rights and privileges thereunder will be revoked and will 
terminate thirty (30) calendar days after serving such notice, unless:  

a. The city of Nevada City has approved the transfer of the franchise to the successful bidder; 
and  

b. The successful bidder has covenanted and agreed with the county to assume and be bound 
by the terms and conditions of the franchise and this chapter.  

5. Effect of Termination or Forfeiture. Upon termination or forfeiture of a franchise, whether by action 
of the city of Nevada City as provided above, or by passage of time, the franchisee must stop 
using the cable communications system for the purposes authorized by the franchise. The city of 
Nevada City may take possession of some or all of franchisee's facilities, or require the franchisee 
or its bonding company to remove some or all of the franchisee's facilities from the city of Nevada 
City and restore affected property to its same or better condition. This provision does not permit 
the city of Nevada City to remove facilities that are used to provide another service for which the 
franchisee holds a valid franchise issued by the city of Nevada City.  

6. Remedies Cumulative. Remedies provided for under this chapter, or under a franchise shall be 
cumulative. Recovery by the city of Nevada City of any amounts under insurance, the 
performance bond, the security fund or letter of credit, does not limit a franchisee's duty to 
indemnify the city of Nevada City; or relieve a franchisee of its franchise obligations or limit the 
amounts owed to the county.  

7. Liquidated Damages Required in Franchise. A franchise granted pursuant to this chapter shall 
require liquidated damages, in an amount to be specified in the franchise, for specified breaches 
of the franchise including, but not limited to, failure to commence construction, failure to meet 
construction plan benchmarks, failure to comply with rebuild plan benchmarks, failure to 
commence service, and material breach of franchise obligation(s). The franchise shall also 
provide that the county may withdraw liquidated damages owed from the franchisee's security 
deposit, after complying with the procedures set forth in subsection (N)(8) of this section. 
Liquidated damages shall commence on that date that performance was due and/or failed, and 
continue until the franchisee demonstrates to the satisfaction of the city of Nevada City that the 
franchisee has fully performed its obligations giving rise to the payment of liquidated damages. 
Any obligation to pay liquidated damages does not in any way affect the franchisee's obligation 
to pay franchise fees or perform other obligations in the franchise and such liquidated damages 
do not constitute franchise fees and are not subject to any limitations on franchise fees contained 
in 47 U.S.C. Section 542(b). Any obligation to pay liquidated damages are not costs of satisfying 
franchise requirements as provided in 47 C.F.R. Section 76.925. Franchisee agrees it will not 
pass the cost of any liquidated damages to subscribers through subscriber rates or itemize or 
otherwise identify on subscriber bills any obligation franchisee may have to pay liquidated 
damages.  

8. Penalties, Fines and Other Monetary Sanctions. 

180



 

 

  Page 13 

a. Penalties. In addition to any other remedies provided for in this chapter or otherwise available 
by law, the city of Nevada City shall have the power to impose monetary penalties in the 
event a cable communications system operator violates any provision of this chapter, a 
franchise, or any regulation lawfully adopted thereunder. The amounts of such penalties shall 
be specified in the franchise and shall be based on the following principles:  

i. Penalties shall exceed the financial benefits to a franchisee delaying or failing to comply 
with the applicable requirement;  

ii. Even where such benefits are not easily discernible, the penalties shall be high enough 
to have a significant deterrent effect on a franchisee; and  

iii. Penalties shall be sufficient to protect the city of Nevada City and other affected parties 
against loss of revenues resulting from violations.  

b. Other Monetary Sanctions. A franchise shall also provide for fines, liquidated damages and 
other monetary sanctions, the amounts of which shall also reflect the foregoing principles.  

c. Private Suit Against Franchisee. 

i. Any person or organization adversely affected by a violation, or by a pattern and 
practice of violations, shall have the right to sue a franchisee in a court of competent 
jurisdiction for damages and for injunctive and other relief to require enforcement of the 
franchise. Organizations shall be entitled to sue on behalf of themselves or their 
members.  

ii. The remedy herein provided shall be in addition to any remedies provided by law. 

iii. Except in emergency situations in which immediate relief is required, private litigants 
shall notify the city attorney not fewer than ten (10) days prior to filing suit. However, 
suit by the city of Nevada City shall not preempt the private litigant's right to proceed.  

d. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, any person who violates any provisions of this 
chapter shall be subject to a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each 
offense; each day of said violation shall constitute a separate offense.  

I. Books and Records. 

1. Generally. Each cable communications system operator shall provide the city of Nevada City 
access to books and records related in whole or in part to the construction, operation, or repair of 
the cable communications system, or a group of systems of which the system is a part, so that 
the city of Nevada City may inspect and copy these books and records. The records include, but 
are not limited to, revenue records, and other records related to compliance with any provision of 
this chapter or a franchise. A franchisee is responsible for obtaining or maintaining the necessary 
possession or control of all such books and records, so that it can produce the documents upon 
request. Books and records must be maintained for a period of four (4) years, except that a 
franchise may specify a shorter period for certain categories of voluminous books and records 
where the information contained therein can be derived simply from other materials. The phrase 
"books and records" shall be read expansively to include information in whatever format stored.  

2. Production. Books and records requested shall be produced at the city of Nevada City by a time 
and at a location in the city of Nevada City designated by the city manager. However, if the 
requested books and records are too voluminous, or for security reasons cannot be copied and 
moved, then the franchisee may request that the inspection take place at some other location 
mutually agreed to by the city of Nevada City and the franchisee, provided that:  

a. The franchisee must make necessary arrangements for copying documents selected by the 
city of Nevada City after its review; and  

b. The franchisee must pay all travel and additional copying expenses incurred by the city of 
Nevada City (above those that would have been incurred had the documents been produced 

181



 

 

  Page 14 

in the city of Nevada City) in inspecting those documents or having those documents 
inspected by its designee.  

JH. Reports. 

1. Obligation to Submit. The City manager may from time to time direct a franchisee to prepare 
reports and to submit those reports by a date certain, in a format prescribed by the city manager, 
in addition to those required by this chapter.  

21. Quarterly ReportsStatement. Unless an exemption is granted by the city manager, within Within 
forty-five (45) days of the end of each calendar quarter, a franchisee shall submit a report 
statement to the city of Nevada City containing the following informationas required by subsection 
J(2) hereof:  

a. The number of service calls (calls requiring a truck roll) received during the prior quarter and 
the percentage of service calls compared to the subscriber base; and  

b. The total estimated hours of known outages as a percentage of total hours of operation. An 
outage is a loss of sound or video on any signal, or a significant deterioration of any signal 
affecting two (2) or more subscribers.  

3.2 Annual Reports. The city City manager may require a cable communications system operator to 
submit a report containing the following information within ninety (90) days after the end of the 
operator's fiscal year:  

a. A fully audited or certified revenue report from the previous calendar year for the cable 
communications system, and a certified statement setting forth the computation of gross 
revenues used to calculate the franchise fee for the preceding year and a detailed 
explanation of the method of computation showing:  

i. Gross revenues by category (e.g., basic pay, pay-per-view, advertising, installation, 
equipment, late charges, miscellaneous, other), and  

ii. What, if any, deductions were made from gross revenues in calculating the franchise 
fee (e.g., bad debt, credits and refunds), and the amount of each deduction;  

b. A report showing, for each applicable customer service standard, the franchisee's 
performance with respect to that standard for each quarter of the preceding year. In each 
case where the franchisee concludes it did not comply fully, the franchisee will describe the 
corrective actions it is taking to assure future compliance. In addition, the report should 
identify the number and nature of all the customer service complaints received and an 
explanation of their dispositions;  

c. An ownership report, indicating all persons who at the time of filing control or own an interest 
in the franchisee of ten (10) percent or more.  

4. Contemporaneous Reports. Within ten (10) days of their receipt or (in the case of documents 
created by the franchisee or its affiliate) filing, a franchisee shall provide the city of Nevada City:  

a. Notices of deficiency or forfeiture related to the operation of the system; and 

b. Any request for protection under bankruptcy laws, or any judgment related to a declaration 
of bankruptcy by the franchisee or by any partnership or corporation that owns or controls 
the franchisee directly or indirectly.  

KI. Maps Required. Each franchisee shall maintain accurate maps and improvement plans which show 
the location, size, and a general description of all facilities installed in the public rights-of-way and any 
power supply sources (including voltages and connections) within the incorporated area of the city of 
Nevada City. Maps shall be based upon post-construction inspection to verify location. Each 
franchisee shall provide a map to the city of Nevada City showing the location of its facilities within the 
city of Nevada City, in such detail and scale as may be reasonably directed by the city engineer and 
update the map at least annually, and whenever the facility expands or is relocated. Copies of maps 

182



 

 

  Page 15 

shall be provided in hard copy and on disk, in a commercially available electronic format specified by 
the city engineer.  

L. Other Records Required. Unless the city manager waives the requirement, a franchisee shall at all 
times maintain:  

1. Complaint Records. Records of all complaints received, their nature and resolution. The term 
"complaints" refers to complaints about any aspect of the franchisee's operations;  

2. Outage Records. Records of outages known to the franchisee, their cause and duration; 

3. Complaint Response. Records of service calls for repair and maintenance indicating the date and 
time service was requested, the date of acknowledgment and date and time service was 
scheduled (if it was scheduled), and the date and time service was provided, and (if different) the 
date and time the problem was solved;  

4. Installation Records. Records of installation/reconnection and requests for service extension, 
indicating date of request, date of acknowledgment, and the date and time service was extended;  

5. Customer Service. Records sufficient to show whether the franchisee has complied with each 
customer service standard that applies to it.  

M. Exemptions. The city manager may temporarily exempt any franchisee from its obligations under 
subsections I through L of this section if the city manager determines that the requirement would be 
unduly burdensome or unnecessary, and that the city of Nevada City and subscriber interests may be 
adequately protected in some other manner.  

N. Privacy. A franchisee shall take all reasonable steps required so that it is able to provide reports, books 
and records to the city of Nevada City, including by providing appropriate subscriber privacy notices. 
Each franchisee shall be responsible for redacting data that applicable law prevents it from providing 
to the city of Nevada City. Nothing in this section shall be read to require a franchisee to violate state 
or federal subscriber privacy laws.  

OJ. Procedures for Paying Franchise Fees and Fees in Lieu of Franchise Fees. 

1. Fees Paid Quarterly. The franchise fee paid pursuant to Section 5.28.020 of this shall be paid 
quarterly unless otherwise specified in a franchise. Payment for each quarter shall be made to 
city of Nevada City not later than forty-five (45) days after the end of each calendar quarter.  

2. Quarterly Statement. Unless a franchise provides otherwise, a franchisee or other entity subject 
to a fee under Section 5.28.020 of this chapter shall file with the city of Nevada City within forty-
five (45) days of the end of each calendar quarter a statement showing gross revenues during 
the preceding quarter and the number of subscribers served.  

3. Acceptance of Payment Not a Release. No acceptance by the city of Nevada City of any payment 
shall be construed as an accord that the amount paid is in fact the correct amount; nor shall such 
acceptance of such payment be construed as a release of any claim the city of Nevada City may 
have for additional sums payable.  

4. Fee Not in Lieu of Taxes. The franchise fee under Section 5.28.020 of this chapter is not a 
payment in lieu of any tax, fee or other assessment of general applicability (including any such 
tax, fee or assessment imposed on both utilities and cable communications system operators or 
their services, but not including a tax, fee, or assessment which is unduly discriminatory against 
operators or subscribers).  

5. Failure to Pay Franchise Fee. In the event that a fee payment is not received by the city of Nevada 
City on or before the due date set forth in the code or in a franchise, or the fee owed is not fully 
paid, the person subject to the fee will be charged interest from the due date at an interest rate 
equal to three (3) percent above the rate for three (3) month federal treasury bills at the most 
recent United States Treasury Department sale of such treasury bills occurring prior to the due 
date of the franchise fee payment.  

183



 

 

  Page 16 

65. Final Statement of Gross Revenues. Within ninety (90) days of the date a franchisee ceases 
operations under a franchise (whether because of franchise termination, transfer, bankruptcy or 
for any other reason), the franchisee shall file a final statement of gross revenues covering the 
period from the beginning of the calendar year in which the operations commenced to the date 
operations ceased. The statement shall contain the information and be audited or certified as 
required by subsection (J)(3)(a)H of this section.  

(Ord. 2016-  ; Ord. 2004-07 Exh. A § 1, 2004)  

5.28.020 - Special rules applicable to state video service franchises.  

A. Additional Definitions. 

For the purposes of this section, in addition to those listed in the prior Section, the following terms, 
phrases, words, and abbreviations shall have the meaning given herein. 

“DIVCA” refers to the “Digital Infrastructure and Video Competition Act” adopted by the State of 
California in 2006 and embodied in California Public Utilities Code section 5800 et seq., which transferred 
authority for issuing franchises to cable television providers from local entities to the Public Utilities 
Commission, while authorizing local governmental entities to be responsible for administration and 
implementation of certain provisions of DIVCA and establish financial support provisions for PEG channel 
facilities. 

“Gross Revenues”, consistent with the definition in DIVCA section 5860(d), means all revenues 
actually received by the holder of a state franchise or its affiliates that are derived from the operation of the 
holder’s network to provide cable service or video service within the incorporated areas of the city of Nevada 
City. 

“Incumbent Cable Operator” as defined in DIVCA section 5830(i) means a cable operator or OVS 
serving subscribers under a franchise in a particular city, county or city and county franchise area on 
January 1, 2007. 

“Material Breach” as defined in DIVCA section 5900(j) means any substantial and repeated failure of 
a video service provider to comply with service quality and other standards specified in California Public 
Utilities Code section 5900(a). 

“PEG Access” or “PEG” means the availability of a cable or State Franchise Holder’s system for public, 
educational, or governmental use by various agencies, institutions, organizations, groups, and individuals, 
including organizations, groups, or individual members of the general public, educational institutions, and 
the City and the County and its designated access providers, to acquire, create, and distribute programming 
not under a State Franchise Holder’s editorial control. 

“PEG support fees” means the fees adopted pursuant to Article 2.A of Chapter II of the Nevada County 
General Code and this Subsection G of Section. 

“PUC” means the California Public Utilities Commission. 

“State Franchise Holder” means a cable operator or video service provider that has been issued a 
franchise by the California Public Utilities Commission to provide cable service or video service, as those 
terms are defined in California Public Utilities Code section 5830, within any portion of the incorporated 
areas of Nevada City. 

 

 

B. General. 

1. Purpose. This section is applicable to video service providers who have been awarded a state 
video franchise under DIVCA to provide cable or video services in any location(s) within the 
incorporated boundaries of the City.  It is the purpose of this section to implement within the 
provisions of DIVCA and the rules of the PUC promulgated thereunder applicable to a “local 

184



 

 

  Page 17 

franchising entity” or a “local entity” as defined in DIVCA within the incorporated boundaries of 
the city of Nevada City regulations that are similar to those adopted by the County for the 
unincorporated areas. 

2. Rights reserved. 

a. The rights reserved to the City under this section are in addition to all other rights of the City, 
whether reserved by this section or authorized by law, and no action, proceeding or exercise 
of a right shall affect any other rights which may be held by the City. 

b. Except as otherwise provided by DIVCA, a state franchise shall not include, or be a substitute 
for: 

i.  compliance with applicable requirements for the privilege of transacting or carrying on a 
business within the City, including, but not limited to, compliance with the conditions that 
the City may establish before facilities may be constructed or, or providing, non-video 
services; 

ii.  any permit or authorization required in connection with operations on or in public rights-
of-way ro public property, including, but not limited to, encroachment permits, street work 
permits, pole attachment permits, and street cut permits; and 

iii.  any permit, agreement or authorization for occupying any other property of the City or 
any private person to which access is not specifically granted by the state franchise. 

 3. Compliance with City Ordinances.  Nothing contained in this section shall be construed so as to 
exempt a State Franchise Holder from compliance with all ordinances, rules and regulation of the 
City now in effect or which may be hereafter adopted which are consistent with this section or 
California Public Utilities Code sections 5800 et seq., or any obligations under any franchise 
issued by the City insofar as those obligations may continue to be enforced thereunder. 

4. Compliance with DIVCA.  When a video service provider holding a state franchise provides notice 
pursuant to section 5840(m) of DIVCA that it is commencing to provide video service to the 
County, a holder of a local franchise is entitled to seek a state franchise pursuant to section 
5930(c) and upon issuance of a state franchise by the PUC for the franchise area, the local 
franchise shall terminate. 

C.    Franchise Fees. 

1.    Amount.  Any State Franchise Holder operating within the incorporated areas of the City shall pay 
to the City a franchise fee equal to five percent (5%) of the gross revenues that may be subject 
to a franchise fee under CPUC section 5860. 

2.   Payment of Franchise Fees. The franchise fee required pursuant to this section shall be paid 
quarterly in a manner consistent with California CPUC section 5860.  The State Franchise Holder 
shall deliver to the City, by check or other means, which shall be agreed to by the City, a separate 
payment for the state franchise fee not later than forty-five (45) days after the end of each calendar 
quarter.  Each payment shall be accompanied by a report, detailing how the payment was 
calculated, and shall include such additional information on the appropriate form as designated 
by the City. 

3.    Examination of Business Records.  The City may examine the business records of the holder of 
a state franchise in a manner consistent with CPUC section 5860(i) 

4.   Late payments.  In the event a State Franchise Holder fails to make payments required by this 
section on or before the due dates specified herein, the City shall impose, pursuant to DIVCA 
section 5860(h), a late charge at the rate per year equal to the highest prime lending rate during 
the period of delinquency, plus one percent (1%). 

D.    Customer Service. 

1.   Customer Service Standards.  A State Franchise Holder shall comply all the Sections set forth in 
Section G-II.2.A.5.A of the County General Code, including, without limitation to the extent 

185



 

 

  Page 18 

consistent with DIVCA, all other applicable state and federal customer service and consumer 
protection standards pertaining to the provision of video service, including any such federal or 
state standards hereafter adopted.  In case of a conflict, the stricter standard shall apply.  All 
customer service and consumer protection standards under this subsection shall be interpreted 
and applied to accommodate newer or different technologies while meeting or exceeding the 
goals of the standards.. 

2. Penalties for Violations of Standards.  The City shall enforce compliance of State Franchise 
Holders within the incorporated areas of the City with respect to the state and federal customer 
service and consumer protection standards to the same extent and in the same manner as 
provided by the County in the unincorporated areas as set forth in Section G-II.A.5.B. 

E.    Permits and Construction.  

1.     Except as otherwise expressly provided in this chapter, all provisions of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code and all City administrative rules and regulations developed to any of these provisions, as 
now existing or as hereafter amended, shall apply to all work performed by or on behalf of a State 
Franchise Holder on any City public rights-of-way, public property, or City easement. 

2.     Permits. Prior to commencing any work for which a permit is required by the Nevada City Municipal 
Code, a State Franchise Holder shall apply for and obtain a permit in accordance with the 
provisions of Title 15 of the Nevada City Municipal Code and shall comply with all other applicable 
laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, all applicable requirements of Division 13 of the 
California Public Resources Code, section 21000, et seq. (the California Environmental Quality 
Act) and Title 14, Chapter 3 of the California Code of Regulations, section 15000 et seq. 
(Guidelines for California Environmental Quality Act).  Any work requiring City land use permits, 
building permits and/or grading permits shall be applied for and approved or denied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Nevada City Municipal Code, including the appeal process. 

3.    The issuance of an encroachment permit is not a franchise, and does not grant any vested rights 
in any location in the public rights-of-way, or in any particular manner of placement within the 
rights-of-way.  Without limitation, a permit to place cabinets and similar appurtenances 
aboveground may be revoked and the permittee required to place facilities underground, in 
accordance with applicable law. 

F.    Emergency Alert System.  Each State Franchise Holder shall comply with the emergency alert system 
requirements of the Federal Communications Commission in order that emergency messages may be 
distributed over the State Franchise Holder’s network.  To the extent consistent with CPUC section 5880, 
each State Franchise Holder shall install and maintain an audio override on all channels for transmission 
of emergency messages and alerts and provide for character generated information to be superimposed 
on all channels for the hearing impaired. 

 

G.   Public, Educational, and Government Access Channel Capacity, Support, Interconnection, and 
Signal Carriage. 

 1.  PEG Channel Capacity. 

    a.    There are currently four (4) PEG access channels activated in Nevada County.  A State 
Franchise Holder shall designate a sufficient amount of capacity on its network to allow the 
provision of four (4) PEG channels to satisfy the requirement of Section 5870 of the 
California Public Utilities Code, within the time limits specified therein. 

b.    A State Franchise Holder shall provide an additional PEG channel when the County satisfies 
the standards set forth in Section 5870(d) of the California Public Utilities Code or any entity 
designated by the County to manage one or more of the PEG channels. 

c. All State Franchise Holders shall comply with the provisions of DIVCA related to PEG 
channels.  Without limiting the foregoing, the PEG channels shall be carried on the basic 
service tier.  To the extent feasible, the PEG channels shall not be separated from other 

186



 

 

  Page 19 

channels carried on the basic service tier and channel numbers for the PEG channels shall 
be the same channel numbers used by the Incumbent Cable Operator, unless prohibited 
by Federal Law, and shall provide picture and sound quality, channel accessibility, and 
location equal to, or substantially equal to, that provided by the Incumbent Cable Operator.  
After the initial designation of PEG channel numbers, the channel numbers shall not be 
changed without the agreement of the local entity unless the change is required by Federal 
Law. 

2,    PEG Support. 

a. Amount of PEG support fee.  Any State Franchise Holder shall pay to the County Cityor 
if directed by the County, to the County’s designated PEG provider, a PEG fee equal to 
one and four-tenths percent (1.4%) of gross revenues, an amount equivalent to the level 
of PEG funding remitted by the Incumbent Cable Operator to the County’s designated 
PEG provider during the period of January 1, 2006 to December 30, 2006cumulatively 
to the County of Nevada and the cities of Nevada City and Grass Valley during the most 
recently completed franchise periods. 

b. The PEG support fee shall be used in a manner that is consistent with state and federal 
law. 

c. A State Franchise Holder shall remit the Peg PEG support fee quarterly, within forty-
five (45) days after the end of each calendar quarter.  Each payment shall be 
accompanied by a summary detailing how the PEG support fee was calculated. 

d. In the event that a State Franchise Holder fails to pay the PEG support fee when due, 
or underpays the proper amount due, the State Franchise Holder shall pay interest 
pursuant to DIVCA section 5860(h) at the rate per year equal to the highest prime 
lending rate during the period of delinquency, plus one percent (1%), or the maximum 
rate specified by state law. 

3. Interconnection.  Each State Franchise Holder and each Incumbent Cable Operator shall 
negotiate in good faith to interconnect their networks for the purpose of providing PEG 
programming.  Interconnection may be accomplished by any means authorized under 
CPUC section 5870(h).  Each State Franchise Holder and Incumbent Cable Operator shall 
provide interconnection of PEG channels on reasonable terms and conditions and may not 
withhold the interconnection.  If a State Franchise Holder and an Incumbent Cable 
Operator cannot reach a mutually acceptable interconnection agreement for PEG carriage, 
the County may require the Incumbent Cable Operator to allow each State Franchise 
holder to interconnect its network with the Incumbent Cable Operator4’s network at a 
technically feasible point on the State Franchise holder’s network as identified by the State 
Franchise Holder.  If no technically feasible point of interconnection is available, each State 
Franchise Holder shall make interconnection available to each PEG channel originator 
programming a channel in the County and shall provide the facilities necessary for the 
interconnection.  The cost of any interconnection shall be borne by each State Franchise 
Holder unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. 

H. Notices. 

1. Each State Franchise Holder or applicant for a state franchise shall file with the County a copy 
of all applications or notices that the State Franchise Holder of applicant are required to file 
with the California Public Utilities Commission. 

2. Unless otherwise specified in this Section, all notices or other documentation that a State 
Franchise Holder is required to provide to the County under this Section or the California Public 
Utilities Code shall be provided both to the County Manager and the County staff person in 
charge of cable and telecommunications, or their successors or designees and, to the extent 
they concern operations within the incorporated areas of Nevada City, to the City Manager. 

        (Ord. 2016-  ;Ord. 2004-07 Exh. A § 2, 2004)  

187



 

 

  Page 20 

5.28.030 - Open video systems - Repealed  

 (Ord. 2004-07 Exh. A § 3, 2004)  

5.28.040 - Miscellaneous.  

A. Captions. The captions to sections throughout this chapter are intended solely to facilitate reading and 
reference to the sections and provisions of this chapter. Such captions shall not affect the meaning or 
interpretation of this chapter.  

B. Calculation of Time. Unless otherwise indicated, when the performance or doing of any act, duty, 
matter, or payment is required under this chapter or any franchise, and a period of time or duration for 
the fulfillment of doing thereof is prescribed and is fixed herein, the time shall be computed so as to 
exclude the first and include the last day of the prescribed or fixed period of time.  

C. Severability. If any term, condition, or provision of this chapter shall, to any extent, be held to be invalid 
or unenforceable by a valid order of any court or regulatory agency, the remainder of this chapter shall 
be valid in all other respects and continue to be effective. In the event of a subsequent change in 
applicable law so that the provision which had been held invalid is no longer invalid, said provision 
shall thereupon return to full force and effect without further action by the city of Nevada City and shall 
thereafter be binding on the Franchisee and the city of Nevada City.  

D. Connections to Cable System; Use of Antennae. 

1. Subscriber Right to Attach. To the extent consistent with federal law, subscribers shall have the 
right to attach VCRs, receivers, and other terminal equipment to a franchisee's cable system. 
Subscribers also shall have the right to use their own remote control devices and converters, and 
other similar equipment.  

2. Removal of Existing Antennae. A Franchisee shall not, as a condition of providing service, require 
a subscriber or potential subscriber to remove any existing antenna, or disconnect an antenna 
except at the express direction of the subscriber or potential subscriber, or prohibit installation of 
a new antenna, provided that such antenna is connected with an appropriate device and complies 
with applicable law.  

E. Discrimination Prohibited. 

1. No Retaliatory Actions. A cable communications system operator shall not discriminate among 
persons or the city of Nevada City or take any retaliatory action against a person or the city of 
Nevada City because of that entity's exercise of any right it may have under federal, state, or local 
law; nor may the cable communications system operator require a person or the city of Nevada 
City to waive such rights as a condition of taking service.  

2. Employment and Hiring Practices. A cable communications system operator shall not refuse to 
employ, discharge from employment, or discriminate against any person in compensation or in 
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, 
sexual orientation, age, disability, religion, ethnic background, or marital status. A cable 
communications system operator shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws and 
regulations governing equal employment opportunities, and hiring practices, as the same may be 
amended from time to time.  

F. Transitional Provisions. 

1. Persons Operating Without a Franchise. The cable communications system operator of any 
facility installed as of the effective date of the ordinance codified in this chapter, for which a 
franchise is required under this chapter, shall have three (3) months from the effective date of the 
ordinance codified in this chapter to file one (1) or more applications for a franchise. Any cable 
communications system operator timely filing such an application under this subsection shall not 
be subject to a penalty for failure to have such a franchise so long as said application remains 
pending; provided, however, nothing herein shall relieve any cable communications system 

188



 

 

  Page 21 

operator of any liability for its failure to obtain any permit or other authorization required under 
other provisions of the city of Nevada City Municipal Code, and nothing in this chapter shall 
prevent the city of Nevada City from requiring removal of any facilities installed in violation of the 
city of Nevada City Municipal Code.  

2. Persons Holding Franchises. Any person holding an existing franchise for a cable 
communications system may continue to operate under the existing city of Nevada City Municipal 
Code provisions to the conclusion of its present term (but not any renewal or extension thereof) 
with respect to those activities expressly authorized by the franchise; and provided further that 
such person shall be subject to the other provisions of this chapter to the extent permitted by law.  

3. Persons with Pending Applications. Pending applications shall be subject to this chapter. A 
person with a pending application shall have thirty (30) days from the effective date of the 
ordinance codified in this chapter to submit additional information to comply with the requirements 
of this chapter governing applications.  

(Ord. 2016-  ; Ord. 2004-07 Exh. A § 4, 2004)  

Appendix A  

Customer Service Standards  

The Franchisee shall comply with the customer service and reporting requirements in this section, or 
as amended. These requirements include but are not limited to the requirements set forth in FCC 
regulations, including 47 C.F.R. § 76.309 and other applicable law. To the extent the provisions of this 
section differ from applicable FCC regulations or any applicable law, the provision or provisions that impose 
the highest standard or greatest legal duties or obligations upon the Franchisee shall take precedence, 
unless a different order of precedence is expressly set herein.  

1. Office Availability. 

1.1 Each Franchisee wilt maintain offices at a convenient locations in Western Nevada 
County that will be open for walk-in traffic at least ten (10) hours per day (except legal holidays) 
Monday through Friday, with some evening hours, and at least five (5) hours on Saturday to allow 
Subscribers to pay bills, drop off equipment and to pick up equipment.  

1.2 Each Franchisee will perform service calls, installations, and disconnects at least ten 
(10) hours per day Monday through Saturday, except legal holidays, provided that a Franchisee 
will respond to outages twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week.  

2. Telephones. All Call Response statistics shall be measured on the basis of call response statistics 
in all call centers that serve Subscribers. If the call centers serve Subscribers located in other 
communities, the Franchisee shall insure that call center representatives do not give priority or 
preferential treatment to Subscribers located in other communities.  

A. Definition of Call Response terms: 

(i) "Answer time" is the interval between when the Franchisee receives a call and when an 
interactive voice response (IVR) or agent answers.  

(ii) "Speed of answer" is the amount of time between when the customer is transferred into 
the agent queue from either an IVR or an agent arid the time an agent answers.  

(iii) "Calls abandoned" is the percentage of calls in any agent queue that are abandoned. 

(iv) "Trunks busy" represents the percentage of time customers receive a busy signal when 
they call customer service during normal business hours.  

2.1 Each Franchisee will establish a publicly listed local toll-free telephone number. 
Customer service representatives must answer the phone at least ten (10) hours per day, Monday 
through Saturday, except legal holidays, for the purpose of receiving requests for service, 

189



 

 

  Page 22 

inquiries, and complaints from Subscribers. After such business hours the phone will be answered 
so that customers cart register complaints and report service problems on a twenty-four (24) hour 
per day, seven (7) day per week basis, and so that the Franchisee can respond to service outages 
as required herein..  

2.2 Standards for Call Response.  

2.2.1 Answer time will not exceed thirty (30) seconds or four (4) rings. Under normal 
operating conditions the Franchisee shall meet this requirement at least ninety (90) percent of the 
time.  

2.2.2 The average speed of answer shall not exceed thirty (30) seconds. Under normal 
operating conditions the Franchisee shall meet this requirement at least ninety (90) percent of the 
time.  

2.2.3 The percentage of calls abandoned shall not exceed three (3) percent under normal 
operating conditions.  

2.2.4 Subscribers shall receive a trunks busy signal less than three (3) percent of the time 
under normal operating conditions.  

2.3 Call Response Reports.  

2.3.1 Franchisee shall submit reports on call response statistics every calendar quarter, 
except as otherwise provided in this section.  

2.3.2 If any of a Franchisee's quarterly call response statistics fail to demonstrate compliance 
with any applicable requirement, the Franchisee must thereafter submit monthly reports on all call 
response times until the Franchisee requests and the city of Nevada City approves resuming 
quarterly reporting.  

2.3.3 Information in the reports about call response times shall be determined on the basis 
of the simple average of results during business hours under normal operating conditions for the 
entire reporting period, and any report submitted at the end of a calendar quarter shall report the 
total number of calls during the proceeding quarter and the average call response times during 
that quarter.  

2.4 Other Reports.  

2.4.1 A Franchisee shall submit reports on all customer service standards identified in this 
section during each successive calendar quarter for the term of the Franchise except as otherwise 
might be provided herein. If a Franchisee's reports for two (2) quarters within a calendar year fail 
to demonstrate that the Franchisee has complied with any customer service standard in 
paragraphs 2.0 through 2.3.3 of this section, the Franchisee shall thereafter submit monthly 
reports about performance of each such requirement until it reports three (3) consecutive months 
with less than five (5) percent deviation from any minimum required standard unless the 
Franchisee demonstrates to city of Nevada City's satisfaction that the deviation occurred when it 
was not operating under normal operating conditions as defined in 47 C.F.R. § 76.309 and reports 
on the nature and duration of such normal operating conditions.  

2.4.2 Timing. A Franchisee shall submit reports within thirty (30) days after the close of the 
applicable reporting period. Each report shall include data from the applicable reporting period.  

2.4.3 Each of the reporting requirements in this section is self-executing and the Franchisee 
agrees that city of Nevada City does not need to provide additional notice or an opportunity to 
cure in order to establish that the Franchisee has committed a breach of these requirements for 
the purposes of the Franchisee's obligation to pay liquidated damages as described in this 
section.  

2.4.4 Compliance. If a monthly or quarterly report indicated that a Franchisee has failed to 
meet any of the minimum required standards, the Franchisee shall provide a written explanation 
of the deviation within ten (10) business days of the report, including steps being taken to cure 

190



 

 

  Page 23 

the deviation, and the time expected to implement the cure. A Franchisee must cure within thirty 
(30) days unless a longer period is agreed to in writing by city of Nevada City, which agreement 
shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

3. Scheduling Work. 

3.1 All appointments for service, installation, or disconnection will be specified by date. Each 
Franchisee will set a specific time at which the work will be done, or offer a choice of time blocks, 
which will not exceed four (4) hours in length. A Franchisee may also, upon request, schedule 
service installation calls outside normal business hours, for the express convenience of the 
customer.  

3.2 If at any time an installer or technician is late for an appointment and/or believes a 
scheduled appointment time will be missed, an attempt to contact the customer will be made 
before the time of appointment and the appointment rescheduled at a time convenient to the 
customer, if rescheduling is necessary. It is the Operator's burden to prove it met the appointment.  

3.3 The Franchisee will offer and fully describe to Subscribers who have experienced a 
missed appointment (where the missed appointment was not the Subscriber's fault) that the 
Subscriber may choose between the following options:  

3.3.1 Installation or service call free of charge, if the appointment was for an installation or 
service call for which a fee was to be charged;  

3.3.2 One (1) month of the most widely subscribed to service tier free of charge for other 
appointments; and  

3.3.3 An opportunity to elect remedies under California Civil Code 1722, if applicable.  

3.4 If the Franchisee makes reasonable and no less than three (3) attempts to confirm an 
appointment during the scheduled appointment time or appointment window and is unsuccessful 
in obtaining such confirmation, the Franchisee may assume that the customer has cancelled the 
appointment.  

4. Service Standards. 

4.1 Under normal operating conditions, requests for service, repair, and maintenance must 
be acknowledged by a trained customer service representative within twenty-four (24) hours, or 
before the end of the next business day, whichever is earlier.  

4.2 A Franchisee will respond to all other inquiries (including billing inquiries) within five (5) 
business days of the inquiry or complaint.  

4.3 Under normal operating conditions, repairs and maintenance for outages or service 
interruptions must be completed within twenty-four (24) hours after the outage or interruption 
becomes known to Franchisee where the Franchisee has adequate access to facilities to which 
it must have access it order to remedy the problem.  

4.4 Under normal operating conditions, work to correct all other service problems must be 
begun by the next business day after notification of the service problem, and must be completed 
within five (5) business days from the date of the initial request.  

4.5 When normal operating conditions do not exist, a Franchisee will complete the work in 
the shortest time possible.  

4.6 A Franchisee will not cancel a service or installation appointment with a customer within 
twenty-four (24) hours of the appointment or after the close of business on the business day 
preceding the scheduled appointment, whichever is earlier.  

4.7 Requests for additional outlets, service upgrades or other connections (e.g. DMX, VCR, 
A/B switch) separate from the initial installation will be performed within seven (7) business days 
after an order has been placed.  

191



 

 

  Page 24 

4.8 Under normal operating conditions, the service standards set out in Sections 4.1 through 
4.7 will be met at least ninety-five (95) percent of the time, measured on a quarterly basis.  

4.9 The failure of the Franchisee to hire sufficient staff or to properly train its staff will not 
justify a Franchisee's failure to comply with this provision.  

5. Disabled Services. With regard to Subscribers with disabilities, upon Subscriber request, each 
Franchisee will arrange for pickup and/or replacement of converters or other Franchisee 
equipment at the Subscriber's address or by a satisfactory equivalent (such as the provision of a 
postage-prepaid mailer).  

6. Notice to Subscribers Regarding Service. A Franchisee will provide each Subscriber at the time 
service is installed, and annually thereafter, clear and accurate written information:  

6.1. On placing a service call, filing a complaint, or requesting an adjustment (including when 
a Subscriber is entitled to refunds for outages and how to obtain them);  

6.2 Showing the telephone number of Western Nevada County office responsible for 
administering the Cable Television Franchise;  

6.3 Detailing current rates and charges (which must include any senior, disabled or other 
discounts offered and the least expensive tier of service available), channel positions, services 
provided, delinquent Subscriber disconnect and reconnect procedures; information regarding the 
availability of parental control devices, the conditions under which they will be provided and the 
cost (if any) charged;  

6.4 Describing conditions that must be met to qualify for discounts;  

6.5 Describing any other of the Franchisee's policies in connection with its Subscribers; and  

6.6 Describing any discounts, services, or specialized equipment available to Subscribers 
who are seniors or with disabilities; explaining how to obtain them; and explaining how to use any 
accessibility features.  

7. Notices to City of Nevada City. Franchisee will provide city of Nevada City with copies of all 
notices provided to its Subscribers pursuant to this article.  

8. Changes in Noticed Information. Franchisee will provide the City Manager (or designee) at least 
sixty (60) days, and all Subscribers at least thirty (30) days, written notice of any material changes 
in the information required to be provided under this article, except that if federal law establishes 
a shorter notice period and preempts this requirement, the federal requirement will apply.  

9. Truth in Advertising. Each Franchisee will take appropriate steps to ensure that all written 
Franchisee promotional materials, announcements, and advertising of residential Cable service 
to Subscribers and the general public, where price information is listed in any manner, clearly and 
accurately discloses price terms. In the case of telephone orders, a Franchisee will take 
appropriate steps to ensure that price terms are clearly and accurately disclosed to potential 
customers in advance of taking the order.  

9.1 Each Franchisee will maintain a file open for public inspection containing all notices 
provided to Subscribers under these customer service standards, as well as all promotional offers 
made to Subscribers. The notices and offers will be kept in the file for at least one (1) year from 
the date of such notice or promotional offer.  

10. Interruptions of Service. A Franchisee shall inform Subscribers and city of Nevada City, three (3) 
days prior to any scheduled or planned interruption of service for planned maintenance or 
construction; provided, however, that planned maintenance that does not require more than one 
(1) hour interruption of service and/or that occurs between the hours of 12:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. 
will not require such notice to Subscribers, and notice to city of Nevada City must be given no 
less than twenty-four (24) hours before the anticipated service interruption.  

11. Prorated Billing. A Franchisee's first billing statement after a new installation or service change 
will be prorated as appropriate and will reflect any security deposit.  

192



 

 

  Page 25 

12. Billing Statement. 

12.1 A Franchisee's billing statement must be dear, concise, and understandable; must 
itemize each category of service and equipment provided to the Subscriber; and must state clearly 
the charges therefor.  

12.2 A Franchisee's billing statement must show a specific payment due date not earlier than 
the later of:  

12.2.1 Fifteen (15) days after the date the statement is mailed; or  

12.2.2 The tenth (10th) day of the service period for which the bill is rendered.  

12.3 A late fee or administrative fee (collectively referred to below as a "late fee") may not 
be imposed for payments earlier than twenty-seven (27) days after the due date specified in the 
bill.  

12.4 A late fee may not be imposed unless the Subscriber is provided written notice at least 
ten (10) days prior to the date the foe is imposed that a fee will be imposed, the date the fee will 
be imposed and the amount of the fee that will be imposed if the delinquency is not paid. A late 
fee may not be imposed unless the outstanding balance exceeds $10.00 and may not exceed 
$5.00.  

12.5 Subscribers will not be charged a late fee or otherwise penalized for any failure by a 
Franchisee, including failure to timely or correctly bill the Subscriber, or failure to properly credit 
the Subscriber for a payment timely made. Payments will be considered timely if postmarked on 
the due date.  

12.6 A Franchisee's bill must permit a Subscriber to remit payment by mail or in person at 
the Franchisee's local office.  

13. Credit for Service Impairment. 

13.1 A Subscriber's account will be credited a prorated share of the monthly charge for the 
service upon Subscriber request if a Subscriber is without service or if service is substantially 
impaired for any reason for a period exceeding four (4) hours during any twenty-four (24) hour 
period; or automatically if the loss of service or impairment is for twenty-four (24) hours or longer.  

13.2 A Franchisee need not credit Subscriber where it establishes that a Subscriber will 
obtain a refund for a loss of service or impairment caused by the Subscriber or by Subscriber-
owned equipment (not including, for purposes of this section, in-home wiring installed by the 
Franchisee).  

14. Biting Complaints. Franchisee will respond to all written billing complaints from Subscribers within 
thirty (30) days.  

15. Billing Refunds. Refunds to Subscribers will be issued no later than: 

15.1 The earlier of the Subscriber's next billing cycle following resolution of the refund 
request, or thirty (30) days; or  

15.2 The date of return of all equipment to Franchisee, if Cable service has been terminated.  

16. Credits for Cable Service. Credits for Cable service will be issued no later than the Subscriber's 
next billing cycle after the determination that the credit is warranted.  

17. Disconnection/Downgrades. 

17.1 A Subscriber may terminate service at any time.  

17.2 A Franchisee will promptly disconnect from the Franchisee's Cable System or 
downgrade any Subscriber who so requests. No charges for service may be made after the 
Subscriber requests disconnection. No period of notice before voluntary termination or 
downgrade of Cable service may be required of Subscribers by any Franchisee. There will be no 

193



 

 

  Page 26 

charge for disconnection, except for the collection fee authorized by state law, and any 
downgrade charges will conform to applicable law.  

18. Security Deposit. Any security deposit and/or other funds due a Subscriber that disconnects or 
downgrades service will be returned to the Subscriber within thirty (30) days or in the next billing 
cycle, whichever is later, from the date disconnection or downgrade was requested except in 
cases where the Subscriber does not permit the Franchisee to recover its equipment, in which 
case the amounts owed will be paid to subscribers within thirty (30) days of the date the equipment 
was recovered, or in the next billing cycle, whichever is later.  

19. Disconnection Due to Nonpayment. 

19.1 A Franchisee may not disconnect a Subscriber's Cable service for non-payment unless:  

19.1.1 The Subscriber is delinquent in payment for Cable service;  

19.1.2 A separate, written notice of impending disconnection, postage prepaid, has been 
sent to the Subscriber at least twenty (20) days before the date on which service may be 
disconnected, at the premises where the Subscriber requests billing, which notice must identify 
the names and address of the Subscriber whose account is delinquent, state the date by which 
disconnection may occur if payment is not made, arid the amount the Subscriber must pay to 
avoid disconnection, and a telephone number of a representative of the Franchisee who can 
provide additional information concerning and handle complaints or initiate an investigation 
concerning the services and charges in question;  

19.1.3 The Subscriber fails to pay the amounts owed to avoid disconnection by the date of 
disconnection; and  

19.1.4 No pending inquiry exists regarding the bill to which Franchisee has not responded 
in writing.  

19.2 If the Subscriber pays all amounts due, Including late charges, before the date 
scheduled for disconnection, the Franchisee will not disconnect service. Service may only be 
terminated on days in which the customer can reach a representative of the Franchisee either in 
person or by telephone.  

19.3 After disconnection (except as noted below), upon payment by the Subscriber in full of 
all proper fees or charges, including the payment of the reconnection charge, if any, the 
Franchisee will promptly reinstate service.  

20. Immediate Disconnection. A Franchisee may immediately disconnect a Subscriber if: 

20.1 The Subscriber is damaging, destroying, or unlawfully tampering with or has damaged 
or destroyed or unlawfully tampered with the Franchisee's Cable System;  

20.2 The subscriber is not authorized to receive a service, and is facilitating, aiding or 
abetting the unauthorized receipt of service by others; or  

20.3 Subscriber-installed or attached equipment is resulting in signal leakage that is in 
violation of FCC rules.  

20.4 After disconnection, the Franchisee will restore service after the Subscriber provides 
adequate assurance that it has ceased the practices that led to disconnection, and paid all proper 
fees and charges, including any reconnect fees and all amounts owed the Franchisee for damage 
to its Cable System or equipment. Provided that, no reconnection fee may be imposed on a 
Subscriber disconnected pursuant to this article if the leakage was the result of the Franchisee's 
acts or omissions; or in any case unless the Franchisee notifies the Subscriber of the leakage at 
least three (3) business days in advance of disconnection, and the Subscriber has failed to correct 
the leakage within that time.  

21. Franchisee's Property. Except as applicable law may otherwise provide, a Franchisee may 
remove its property from a Subscriber's premises within thirty (30) days of the termination of 
service. If a Franchisee fails to remove its property in that period, the property will be deemed 

194



 

 

  Page 27 

abandoned unless the Franchisee has been denied access to the Subscriber's premises, or the 
Franchisee has a continuing right to occupy the premises under applicable law.  

22. Deposits. A Franchisee may require a reasonable, non-discriminatory deposit on equipment 
provided to Subscribers. Deposits will be placed in an interest-bearing account and the 
Franchisee will return the deposit plus interest earned to the date the deposit is returned to the 
Subscriber, less any amount the Franchisee can demonstrate should be deducted for damage to 
such equipment.  

23. Parental Control Option. Without limiting a Franchisee's obligations under federal law, a 
Franchisee must provide parental control devices at no charge to all Subscribers who request 
them that enable the Subscriber to block the video and audio portion of any channel or channels 
of programming.  

24. Penalties. Pursuant to California Government Code § 63088.2, and any successor statute or 
regulation, penalties will be assessed against a Franchisee for any breach of Sections 1-23 of 
these customers service standards.  

25. Notwithstanding the requirements of this article the City Manager is authorized to relieve a 
Franchisee of its obligations under this article if:  

25.1 Franchisee shows that there is an alternative standard that is substantially similar to 
that established by this article;  

25.2 In light of the number of customers served by a Cable System Operator, the 
requirements of this article are, in the City Manager's sole discretion, unduly burdensome and 
there is an alternative way to serve the same interest.  

 

195


	1-REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING - 12052016.pdf
	3A-1 Fire Activity Report
	3B-1 stfrpt Providence Mine Signs
	3B-2 PM sign 1
	3B-3 PM sign 2
	3B-4 PM sign map
	3C-1 AP Activity Report
	AP Activity Report - 02.2016.pdf
	AP Activity Report - 03.2016
	AP Activity Report - 04.2016
	AP Activity Report - 05.2016
	AP Activity Report - 06.2016
	AP Activity Report - 07.2016
	AP Activity Report - 08.2016
	AP Activity Report - 09.2016
	AP Activity Report - 10.2016
	AP Activity Report - 11.2016

	4A-1 Minutes 11 30 2016 Draft
	4B-1 Minutes - Bridge Workshop
	5A-1 stfrpt Parking Limits in Pioneer Park
	5A-2 Proposed Parking Sign
	5B-1-Community Economic Support Program
	5B-2 Community and Econ Support Program Overview
	5C-1 2016 Strategic Objectives Status Update
	5C-2 Nevada City GRID-Revised 12092016
	7A-1 Hotel Incentive Program 12092016
	7A-2 Chapter 3 26 Ordinance
	8A-1 Nuisance Property Staff Report
	8A-2 Ordinance No 2016 safety violations Rev
	8A-3 Exhibit A - Chapter 1.22
	8A-4 Exhibit B - Chapter 9.28
	8B-1 cablestaff reportrev
	8B-2 Ordinance No 2016 cable systems
	8B-3 Exhibit A - Chapter_5.28



